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31 December 2011

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS - in millions of euros Notes| 12/2011 12/2010
Cash and balances at central banks and PCAs 188 375
Derivatives 2 310 81
Financial assets available for sale and other &izdassets 3 6 2b
Amounts receivable from credit institutions 4 947 992
Loans and advances to customers 5et6 24 871 21 9511
Operating lease transactions 5etb6 59 72
Adjustment accounts - Assets 7 518 473
Interests in associates 8 36 34
Tangible and intangible non-current assets 9 22 25
Goodwill 10 83 82
TOTAL ASSETS 27 105 24 11(
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY - in millions of euros Note s| 12/2011 12/2010
Derivatives 2 91 137
Amounts payable to credit institutions 11.2 4133 4107
Amounts payable to customers 11.3 718 654
Debt evidenced by certificates 114 17 817 15124
Adjustment accounts - Liabilities 13 1316 1201
Provisions 14 100 110
Insurance technical provisions 14 105 52
Subordinated debt - Liabilities 16 261 263
Equity 2 569 2 46(
- Of which equity - owners of the parent 2 566 2 457
Share capital and attributable reserves 814 814
Consolidated reserves and other 1304 1198
Unrealized or deferred gains and losses (45) (22)
Net income for the year 493 467
- Of which equity - non-controlling interests 3 3
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 27 105 24 11(
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

In millions of euros Notes| 12/2011 12/2010
Interest and similar income 23 1922 1783
Interest expenses and similar charges 24 (934 (816
Fees and commission income 26 26
Fees and commission expenses (8) @)
Net gains (losses) on financial instruments atvfalue through profit or loss 25 1 2)
Net gains (losses) on AFS securities and othenfilghassets 26 b i
Net income (expense) of other activities 27 177 150
NET BANKING INCOME 1189 1134
General operating expenses 28 (351 (339)
Depreciation and impairment losses on tangibleiatahgible assets () B)
GROSS OPERATING INCOME 832 787,
Cost of risk 29 (52 (85
OPERATING INCOME 780 702
Share of net income of equity method companies 6

Gains less losses on non-current assets

PRE-TAX INCOME 786 704
Income tax 30 (265 (214
NET INCOME 521 490
Of which, non-controlling interests 28 23
Of which owners of the parent 493 467,
Net Income per share (*) in euros 493,28 466,84
Diluted earnings per share in euro 493,28 466,84

(*) Net income - Owners of the parent comparechriumber of shares

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME
In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
NET INCOME 521 490
Other comprehensive income (**) (23) 113
Unrealised P&L on cash flow hedge instruments 3 46
Other unrealized or deferred P&L 1 (2)
Actuarial differences on defined-benefit pensioangl @) 1
Exchange differences (26) 67
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 498 603
Of which Comprehensive income attributable to nontwlling interests 28 2B
Comprehensive income attributablewners of the parent 410 580

(**) Of which share of the other comprehensiveoime of equity method companies 3) 5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Unrealiza Net incomg Equity — | Equity —
) ’ ) attributablel shareholdel] share of Total
In millions of euros Sh'f”e Auribut. |- Consolid. Tran§lat|or dor to equity | softhe | part non-|Consolidat
capital | reserves| reserves| adjust. | deferred i .
el holders of| parent | controlling] ed equity
the parent] company | interests
@ ) ®) 4) 5

Equity at 31 December 2009 100 714 1286 (82) (B3) 316 2 281 3 2 284
Appropriation of net income of previous year 316 a1
Equity at 1 January 2010 100 714 1602 (82) (83) 22B1 3 2 284
Change in value of financial instruments (CFH & AF$
recognized in equity 45 45 45
Actuarial differences on defined-benefit pensicangl 1 1 1
Exchange differences 67 67 67|
Net income for the year (before appropriation) 467 467 23 49
Total comprehensive income for the period 67 46 467 580 23 603
Effect of acquisitions, disposals and others Q) (1) (2) 2
Dividend for the year (400) (400 6 (404
Repurchase commitment of non-controlling interestd 3) 3) (16 (19
Equity at 31 December 2010 100 714 1198 (15) (7) 467 2 457 3] 246(
Appropriation of net income of previous year 467 ™6
Equity at 1 January 2011 100 714 1665 (1) 7) 2 457 3 2 460
Change in value of financial instruments (CFH & AF$
recognized in equity 4 4 4
Actuarial differences on defined-benefit pensicangl (2) () 1
Exchange differences (26) (26 (26
Net income for the year (before appropriation) 493 493} 28 52
Total comprehensive income for the period (26) 3 493 470 28 498
Effect of acquisitions, disposals and others Q) ()
Effect of change in share capital 3 3
Dividend for the year (350) (350 (13 (364
Repurchase commitment of non-controlling interestd 11) (11) a7 @28
Equity at 31 December 2011 100 714 1304 (41) (4) 493 2 566 3| 2564

(1) The share capital of RCI Banque SA (100 millemos) consists of 1,000,000 fully paid up sharnéis par value
of 100 euros each, of which 999,992 shares are dpdRenault s.a.s.

(2) Attributable reserves include the share prensacount of the parent company.

(3) The change in translation adjustments at 3lebDwer 2011 relates primarily to United Kingdom, Blraand
Switzerland. At 31 December 2010, the change maéigted to Brazil, South Korea and Switzerland.

(4) Includes changes in the fair value of derivediwsed as cash flow hedges for -€1.6m and IASfL&@dal gains
and losses for -€2.8m at the end of 2011.

(5) Non-controlling interests consisted essentiaflthe stake held in Cogera SA by Renault s.a.s.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

In millions of euros 12/2011| 12/2010
Net income attributable to owners of the parent company 493 467,
Depreciation and amortization of tangible and igthle non-current assets 5 7
Net allowance for impairment and provisions (45) (70
Share of net income of associates (6) (2)
Deferred tax (income) / expense 45 56
Net income attributable to non-controlling intesest 28 23
Other (gains/losses on derivatives at fair valueugh profit and loss) ((319) 114
Cash flow 453 595
Other movements (accrued receivables and payables) 71 80
Total non-monetary items included in net income anather adjustments 31 208
Cash flows on transactions with credit institutions (372 (2841

- Increases / decreases in Amounts receivabie €redit institutions 84 (144)

- Increases / decreases in Amounts payableetitdnstitutions (456) (2697)
Cash flows on transactions with customers (2927 (730

- Increases / decreases in amounts receivabie Eustomers (2 902) (721)

- Increases / decreases in Amounts payablestomers (25) 9)
Cash flows on other transactions affecting findressets and liabilities 3011 197

- Inflows / outflows related to AFS securitasl similar (29) (6)

- Inflows / outflows related to debts evidenbgdertificates 3048 1965

- Inflows / outflows related to collections 42 18
Cash flows on other transactions affecting nonrfaia assets and liabilities 5 (167)
Net decrease / (increase) in assets and liabilitiessulting from operating activities (223 (2 761
Net cash generated by operating activities (A) 301 (1 086
Flows related to financial assets and investments (20)
Flows related to tangible and intangible non-curessets 4) (4)
Net cash from / (used by) investing activities (B) (24) 4
Net cash from / (to) shareholders (360 (406

- Dividends paid (363) (406)

- Inflows / outflows related to non-controllingerests 3
Net cash from / (used by) financing activities (C) (360 (406
Effect of changes in exchange rates and scope ofisolidation on cash and cash equivalents (Ip) (23) 8
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equiva(A+B+C+D) (106} (148
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year: 1018 2 5071

- Cash and balances at central banks and PCAs 375 646

- Balances in sight accounts at credit instdns 643 1861
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year: 912 1019

- Cash and balances at central banks and PCAs 188 375

- Credit balances in sight accounts with credétitutions 874 808

- Debit balances in sight accounts with credtitutions (150) (164)
Change in net cash (1 488)

‘Cash and cash equivalents’ consist of sight dépasid overnight funds. The items included in linis item are

presented in notes 4 and 11.2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - DISTRIBUTIONS

The RCI Banque group’s consolidated financial statets for the year 2011 were established by therdBo
Directors on 7 February 2012 and will be preseifitedshareholder approval to the Annual General igedn 21
May 2012. An annual dividend of 250 euros per shfea total distribution of 250 million euros, lvalso be
proposed at that meeting.

For comparison, the General Meeting of 20 May 26étlthe dividend for 2010 at 350 euros per sharea ftotal
distribution of 350 million euros.

The consolidated financial statements are expraasailions of euros unless otherwise indicated.

2. ACCOUNTING METHODS

In application of Regulation 1606/2002 adopted &ndly 2002 by the European Parliament and Euro@zamcil,

the RCI Banque group has prepared its consolidfiteahcial statements for 2011 in accordance with RRS

(International Financial Reporting Standards) glings published by the IASB (International AccougtiStandards
Board) to 31 December 2011 and as adopted in thgpEan Union by the statement closing date.

The following standards, interpretations and amesms) as published in the Official Journal of thedpean Union
at the time of the annual closing, have been agfitiethe first time in accounting year 2011:

» Revised IAS 24 "Related party disclosures";

* Improvements to various IFRS standards publish&di0;

« Amendment to IAS 32 "Financial instruments: preagoh - Classification of financial instrumentstied";

* IFRIC 19 "Extinguishing Financial Liabilities witBquity instruments"

e Amendment to IFRIC 14 relating to IAS 19 — The tinoin a defined benefit asset, minimum funding

requirements and their Interaction - Minimum furgladvance payments;

First-time application of these standards, intagifens and amendments had no significant impacthengroup’s
financial statements at 31 December 2011.

The Group has not applied the amendment to IFREahcial instruments in advance: Disclosures arfaial asset
transfers” published in th@fficial Journal of the European Union on 31 December 2011, agpitaf which is
mandatory as of*iJanuary 2013. To date, the Group anticipates guifsiant effects on the consolidated financial
statements further to the adoption of this amendmen

Standards IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Stateshetd IFRS 11 "Joint Arrangements"”, published A$B in

2011, had not yet been adopted by the EuropeamlitiB8l December 2011. They are thus not applidgaldelvance
at 2011 year-end closing. Nevertheless, the Groighes to point out that to date it does not exgglication
thereof to have any significant impact.

RCI Banque’s consolidated financial statementdhg consolidated in those of the Renault Group.
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A) Consolidation

Scope and methods of consolidation

In addition to RCI Banque SA and its foreign braaghthe scope of consolidation includes subsidiarieer which
RCI Banque exercises exclusive control, entitiesravhich it exercises joint control (joint venturesd companies
over which it exercises significant influence (asated companies). Companies over which RCI Barexezcises
exclusive control are fully consolidated.

The securitized assets of Diac SA, Cogera SA, RELEE and the Italian and German branches, antbtres made
to Renault Retail Group, inasmuch as a majorityhef risks and benefits thereof are retained byRfié¢ Banque
group, remain on the asset side of the balancd.shee

Entities over which the RCI Banque group exercjseg control are proportionately consolidated.

Companies over which the RCI Banque group exercsgsficant influence are accounted for under dugiity
method.

Significant transactions between consolidated cangeaare eliminated, as are unrealized intercompauits.

For the most part, the companies included in RGigB@’s scope of consolidation are the Renault,asisBacia and
Samsung vehicle sales finance companies and theiakes] service companies.

Acquisition cost of shares and goodwill

The acquisition cost of shares is the amount pgithb acquirer to the seller plus incidental expsensosts directly
attributable to the acquisition.

Gooduwill is the difference between the cost of asitjon adjusted for directly attributable expensesl the fair value
of the assets and liabilities acquired. If the afiféihce is negative, the amount of that differercceecognized
immediately in the income statement.

Gooduwill relating to fully or proportionately corgtated companies on the RCI Banque group’s balaheet is not
amortized.

An impairment test is performed at least annuatiy ehenever there is an indication of a loss ime@aby comparing
the book value of the assets with their recoverabeunt, the latter being the highest value betwherfair market

value (after deducting the cost of disposal) amdghing concern value. The going concern valuase8 on a market
approach and determined by using multiples for emohip of cash-generating units, which comprisallegtities or

groups thereof in the same country. A single distiog value is used for all cash-generating uitsttested, which
is the risk-free 10-year forward rate augmentethiyaverage risk premium for the sector in whigytbperate.

Goodwill is therefore measured at its cost lessantyued impairment losses. If impairment is fouhe, impairment
loss is recognized in the income statement.

Transactions with non-controlling interests (pusdssales) are booked as capital transactions. difference
between the amount received or paid and the bokle @ the non-controlling interests sold or bouightecognized
directly in equity.

Non-controlling interests

The RCI Banque group has awarded the non-contgaltiterests in some fully consolidated subsidiaci@smitments
to buy out their holdings. For the group, these-butycommitments represent contractual obligatenisng from the
sales of put options. The exercise price for tlgst®ns is determined by estimating the price tkd Ranque group
would have to pay out to the non-controlling instseif the options were exercised, taking into aotduture returns
on the financing portfolio existing at the closidgte and the provisions set out in the cooperagigreements
concerning the subsidiaries.

In accordance with the provisions set out in stashdAS 32, the group has recognized a liabilitysigng from put
options sold to non-controlling interests of exalaly controlled entities for a total amount of €9 at 31 December

-8-
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2011, compared to €177m at 31 December 2010. Tdiislity is measured initially at the present valak the
estimated exercise price of the put options.

The counterpart entries for this liability are bedlkas decreases in the non-controlling intereddsnlying the options
and, for the balance, a decrease in equity ataidetto the owners of the parent company. The atitig to recognize
a liability even though the put options have noérbexercised means that, in order to be consistemtgroup has
applied the same accounting treatment initiallfhed applied to increases in its proportionateragts in controlled
entities.

If the options have not been exercised when thisnsibment expires, the previous entries are reven$ale options
are exercised and the buyout is made, the amocognezed as a liability is extinguished by the castiay associated
with the buy-out of the non-controlling interests.

B) Presentation of the financial statements

The summary statements are presented in the faaoatmended by the Conseil National de la Comptéal§ifrench
National Accounting Council) in its RecommendatR009-R-04 on the “format of summary financial ste¢ats for
credit institutions and investment firms applyingeirnational accounting standards”.

Operating income includes all income and expensectlly associated with RCI Banque group operatiovtgther
these items are recurring or result from one-offiglens or transactions, such as restructuringscost

C) Estimates and judgments

In preparing its financial statements, RCI Bangas to make estimates and assumptions that affedtabk value of
certain assets and liabilities, income and expépses, and the information disclosed in certainddotRCI Banque
regularly reviews its estimates and assessmendkeoaccount of past experience and other faceemdd relevant in
view of economic circumstances. If changes in thresseimptions or circumstances are not as anticiptte figures
reported in RCI Banque’s future financial statersectuld differ from current estimates. The mairmgein the
financial statements that depend on estimates asdngtions are the recoverable value of loans drdnges to
customers and allowances for impairment and prowssi

D) Loans and advances to customers and finance leasmtracts

Measurement (excluding impairment) and presentation

Sales financing receivables from end customersdaader financing receivables come under the cayegbfLoans
and advances issued by the company”. As such,ateynitially recorded at fair value and carriecaatortized cost
calculated according to the effective interest ragghod.

The effective interest rate is the internal rateretfirn to maturity or, for adjustable-rate loatwsthe nearest rate
adjustment date. The discounted amount of amaidizatn any difference between the initial loan amoand the
amount payable at maturity is calculated usingefifective interest rate.

In addition to the contractual component of theehesble, the amortized cost of sales financing ivedxdes includes
interest subsidies received from the car makerealedt as part of promotional campaigns, handlires fipaid by
customers, and commissions paid for referral ofrfass. These items, which are all factors in tterneon the loan,
are either deducted from or added to the amoumtivable. They are recognized in the income statémera pro-
rated portion discounted at the effective interatt for the receivables to which they apply.

Finance lease contracts, as identified by the rdescribed in Part E, are in substance booked las financing
receivables.
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Income from the resale of vehicles at the endradrte lease contracts is included under “Net incb(egpense) of
other activities”.

As a result, gains and losses on the resale otleshtoming off performing lease agreements, ansocimarged to or
recovered from allowances for risks on residuali®g) and gains or losses resulting from damagehiles less any
corresponding insurance settlements, are recordddru'Other income related to banking operationsd &Other
expenses related to banking operations”.

Identifying credit risk

The RCI Banque group currently uses a number & réifit internal rating systems:

- A group-wide rating for borrowers in the Dealer megt, which is used during the various phases ef th
relationship with the borrower (initial approvakk monitoring, provisioning),

- A group-wide rating for bank counterparties, whishestablished on the basis of external ratings eath
counterparty’s level of capital,

- For “Customer” borrowers, different acceptance isgpsystems are used; these vary by affiliate gntyje of
financing.

Whenever the full or partial collection of a reaile is in doubt, that receivable is classifieaire of the following
two categories:

- Doubtful loans: a receivable is classified as dubtot later than when installments remain ungaidmore
than three months. When a receivable is classd®dloubtful, the full amount of credit outstandbogthe
customer concerned is transferred to the doulwfn kcategory.

- Compromised loans: a receivable is classified asptomised when the counterparty is declared to have
defaulted on a loan or when a lease agreementign@ted due to deterioration in the counterpariylancial
position. If there is no formal default or termiiost, the receivable is transferred to this categuaryater than
one year after it was classified as doubtful.

Because local management practices vary, defadlttemmination do not occur at the same point iretiim the
different countries where the RCI Banque group af@s: However, local practices do converge to taiceextent
within the major geographical regions:

- Northern Europe: default or termination generalbgurs within the three to four month period follogithe
first unpaid installment,

- Southern Europe: default or termination generatiguns within the six to eight month period follogithe first
unpaid installment,

- South America: default or termination generally wscwithin the six to eight month period followitige first
unpaid installment.

Cancellation fees and late interest on doubtful eochpromised loans are recognized and fully prowisd until
received.

A doubtful loan is reclassified as a performingriaace all overdue amounts have been paid.

Impairment

Impairment allowances are established to coves rigknon-recovery. The amount of these allowanseatetermined
on an individual basis (either case by case orstatistical risk analysis), or on a collective sagihese impairment
allowances are recorded on the asset side of thadessheet as deductions from the asset itemswhiith they are
associated.

-10 -
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Customer lending

A statistical approach on an individual basis ipleg on loans to Customers. The aim is to estimnétmate losses
on doubtful loans, compromised loans and loans mitfsed or late payments. Customer loans are gdoumpe risk
classes representative of the type of financinggwdis financed.

The projected cash flows used for the statistictin®gtion of impairment are calculated by applysgeriodic
recovery factor based on the age of the receiviabliee amount owed at the time of default. Recowaish flows are
projected over several years, and the last flowhatend of the period represents a lump-sum valueaveries
beyond that period. The recovery factors used ased on the observation of actual collections, shesbover a
twelve-month period.

The impairment allowance for doubtful loans is addted by comparing the estimated recoverable yaldrch
consists of the discounted projected collectionith We carrying value of the loans concerned. Bgain mind the
statistical nature of the method used to measujeqted collections, the estimated recoverableevedunot calculated
individually for each loan, but on a collective lsa®r a given generation of loans.

Impairment charges on loans that are overdue kutlaubtful are determined as a function of the phility that the
loans will be reclassified as doubtful and the veey factor that will apply if they arelhis is "incurred loss", the
established fact being a default on payment undeoiths.

In the event that determining impairment allowanoesan individual basis using the statistical applois not
relevant, impairment allowances for delinquent awdibtful receivables are determined on a case-bg-tesis
according to the classification of the debtor conypand the stage reached in collection or othecgmdings.

Interest accrued and receivable on doubtful loamsavisioned in full. The impairment allowances deducted from
the corresponding interest income items.

Dealer financing

For the largest outstandings, such as dealer ruels, impairment allowances for doubtful amoumés determined
individually on a case-by-case basis, accordinthéoclassification of the debtor company and tlagestreached in
collection or other proceedings.

An approach based on a case-by-case review arettiedl review of credit risk is used for non-doubteceivables.

Non-doubtful receivables found upon case-by-caseweto be associated with an objective impairmedicator are
classified separately from other non-doubtful reakles in the delinquent loan category createdhigrpurpose. Any
deterioration in the borrower’s financial conditjgrofitability or payment pattern will trigger threclassification of
the receivable as delinquent and a consequent imeaf charge. Delinquent receivables are writtewrdby an
impairment charge based on the impairment ratio doubtful loans weighted by the percentage of delémt
receivables that subsequently become doubtful.

Based on information available on the individuatrbaer, write-downs for delinquent receivables ratso be based
on an expert appraisal.

Non-doubtful receivables reviewed on a case-by-daa&is and found not to be associated with an tibgec
impairment indicator are classified as performiogrs. They are subject to a collective review @ditrrisk as
assessed for the sector. In each country whereBR@tue provides dealer financing, the long-termrogemnomic
factors that explain risk on dealer financing ofiers are identified and correlated with historitdses. Whenever
the benchmark macroeconomic indicators show a ideation suggesting an increase in risk, the impait
allowance for the performing loan portfolio as aolehis adjusted accordingly. The impairment ragflects the loss
ratio associated with the observed deterioration.

Country risk

Allowances for country risk are determined on thsig of the systemic credit risk to which debtaesexposed in the
event of a continued and persistent deterioratithé economic and general situation of the coemiricluded in this
base.

The provision concerns subsidiaries with locationscountries where economic conditions are unstablee
calculation consists in applying a projected defeate and a loss ratio in the event of defauihtividual non-current
financing assets grouped together per countryerlb@-end. The result obtained is compared to #tesituation of the
subsidiary concerned, which represents the maxitoss possible in the country. The projected defeatit is an

-11 -
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indicator of a country’s default probability andttse result of a cross between a rating dependmghanges in
macro-economic indicators and the maturity of ek outstanding.

On the balance sheet, impairment allowances fontcpuisk are booked as deductions from the cagryialue of
loans and advances to customers.

Impairment allowances for such risks that are ratzegl or reversed are combined under the “Cosskf item in the
consolidated income statement.

Rules for writing off loans

When a receivable has presented an establishefbriakperiod of three years and there is no evidesuggesting that
it will ever be collected, the amount of the impaént allowance is reversed and the gross amoustamgling is
transferred to receivables written off.

Impairment of residual values

The RCI Banque group regularly monitors the resalae of second-hand vehicles across the board o @ptimize
the pricing of its financing products.

In most cases, tables of quoted prices showinga&ypesidual values based on vehicle age and neileag used to
determine the residual value of vehicles at theadritle contract term.

However, for contracts under which the trade-irugadf the vehicle at the end of the contract teymat guaranteed
by a third party outside the RCI Banque group,mapairment allowance is determined by comparing:

a) the economic value of the contract, meaningtime of future cash flows under the contract plesré
estimated residual value at market conditions emtlkasurement date, all discounted at the conttaecest
rate;

b) the carrying value on the balance sheet atiitte @f the measurement.

The projected resale value is estimated by corisglénown recent trends on the used vehicle markeich may be
influenced by external factors such as economiditiems and taxation, and internal factors sucltl@nges in the
model range or a decrease in the car maker’s prices

The impairment charge is calculated with no allogeafor any profit on resale.

E) Operating leases (IAS17)

In accordance with IAS 17, the RCI Banque groupesakdistinction between finance leases and opgriases.

The main criterion that the RCI Banque group useslassify leases as one or the other is whetterithks and
rewards incidental to ownership are transferredrtother party. Thus, leases under which the leaskitle will be
bought back by an RCI Banque group entity at thie afrthe lease are classified as operating leases most of the
risks and rewards are not transferred to a thirtygautside the group. The classification as opegdieases of lease
contracts that contain a buy-back commitment froemRCI Banque group also takes into account thmatsd term
of such leases. This lease term is far shorter tivameconomic life of the vehicles, which is puttbg Renault Group
at an estimated seven or eight years, dependitigeotype of vehicle. Consequently, all leases witiuy-back clause
are treated as operating leases.

Operating leases are recognized on the balanceé aheen-current assets leased out and are catribd gross value
of the assets leased out less depreciation, pase Ilpayments receivable and staggered transaciiig get to be
taken to the income statement. Lease payments epcedation are also recognized separately in ticene
statement. Transaction costs are taken to incone graight-line basis. Classification as an ojrgdease does not
affect the assessments of counterparty risk anduasvalue risk.

The accounting treatment of vehicle resale traimmagtat the end of operating lease contracts istickd to that
described for finance leases in: Loans and advanoasstomers and finance lease contracts.
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F) Transactions between the RCI Banque group and the éhault-Nissan Alliance

Transactions between related parties are conduotnving terms equivalent to those prevailing imetcase of
transactions subject to conditions of normal coiitipetif these terms can be substantiated.

The RCI Banque group helps to win customers andt Hayalty to Renault-Nissan Alliance brands by ewiifig
financing and providing services as an integral pathe Alliance’s sales development strategy.

The main indicators and cash flows between theemiiies are as follows:

Sales support

In 2011, the RCI Banque group provided € 11,170mmexv financing (including credit cards), comparedhve
10,096m in 2010.

Relations with the dealer network
The RCI Banque group acts as a financial parthe@msure and maintain the sound financial healtthefRenault-
Nissan Alliance distribution networks.

At 31 December 2011, dealer financing net of impaint allowances amounted to €6,263m against €4, %681
December 2010.

At 31 December 2011, direct financing of Renaulb@r affiliates and branches amounted to €485m ag@bs20m at
31 December 2010.

At 31 December 2011, the dealer network has celtbcis business contributor, income of €303m ag&k32m at
31 December 2010.

Relations with the car makers

The RCI Banque group pays the car maker for vehiclelivered to dealers for which it provides finagc
Conversely, at the end of the contract, the Rer@rdup pays the RCI Banque group for vehicles tdiark under
financial guarantees made by the car maker. Thesesdctions generate substantial cash flows betweeriwo
groups.

Under their trade policies and as part of promaiarampaigns, manufacturers are participating e shbsidy of
financings granted to customers by RCI Banque. AtD&cember 2011, this participation amounts €38gainst
€359m at 31 December 2010.

G) Recognition and measurement of the securities poufio (IAS 39)

RCI Banque’s portfolio of securities is classifiectording to the financial asset categories sgetifi IAS 39.
Securities held for trading purposes

These are securities intended to be sold in thevear future or held for the purpose of realiziagital gains.

These securities are measured at fair value (iimgudccrued interest), and changes in value aregrézed in the
income statement.
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Securities available for sale

By default, this category (“AFS securities”) inckglall securities that are not intended to be teldaturity and that
are not held for trading purposes.

These securities are measured at fair value (imgueccrued interest), and changes in value (ekwjudccrued
interest) are recognized directly in equity undeewaluation reserve. Accrued interest is recoghirethe income
statement. If there is an objective indication loé impairment of theses securities, such as payadiefatlt, the
increasing probability of borrower bankruptcy, betdisappearance of an active market, the aggrémsdethat has
been recorded directly under equity must be remdnaed equity and recognized in the income statement

H) Non-current assets (IAS16/IAS36)

Non-current assets are carried and depreciated) tise components approach. The components of at bss,
especially a complex asset, are treated as sepsets if their characteristics or useful lives different, or if they
generate economic benefits at different rates.

Property, plant and equipment are measured atitiat@acquisition cost.

Non-current assets other than land are generglised@ted on a straight-line basis over the folfmpéstimated useful
lives:

- Buildings 15 to 40 years

- Other tangible non-current assets 4 to 8 years

I) Income taxes (IAS 12)

The restatements of the annual financial statenardempanies included in the scope of consolidatimade to bring
them into line with IAS standards for financial ocefing purposes, and the tax deferrals allowedhi gtatutory
statements filed for tax purposes, give rise tantjrdifferences in the recognition of income fox t@nd financial
reporting purposes. A timing difference is alsoogrtized whenever the book value of an asset aiitiabiffers from
its value for tax purposes.

These differences give rise to the recognition efieded taxes in the consolidated financial statémaender the

liability method used by RCI Banque, deferred tagpense is calculated by applying the last tax iateffect at the

closing date and applicable to the period in whightiming differences will be reversed. Withinigem taxable entity

(company, establishment, or tax consolidation gyodpferred tax assets and liabilities are preseatea net basis
whenever the entity is entitled to offset its tag@ivables against its tax payables. Deferredsagta are written down
whenever their utilization is unlikely.

For fully consolidated companies, a deferred tability is recognized for taxes payable on advadoedend
distributions by the group.
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J) Pension and other post employment benefits (IAS 19)

Overview of plans

The RCI Banque group uses different types of penaia post-employment benefit plans:

Defined benefit plans:

Charges are booked to provisions for these planever:
- Indemnities payable upon retirement (France),

- Supplementary pensions: the main countries usiisgtype of plan are the United Kingdom, the Neteds
and Switzerland.

- Mandated savings plans: this type of plan is usdthly.

Defined-benefit plans are in some cases covereduhgls. Such funds are subject to periodic valuatign
independent actuaries. The value of such fundsyyif is deducted from the corresponding liability.

The RCI Banque group affiliates that use exterraispn funds are RCI Financial Services Ltd, RCiaRcial
Services BV and RCI Finance SA.

Defined contribution plans:

In accordance with the laws and practices of eacimtty, the group makes salary-based contributiomsational or
private institutions responsible for pension plans provident schemes. The group has no liabilitie®spect of
such plans.

Valuation of liabilities for defined benefit plans

With respect to defined-benefit plans, the costpadt-employment benefits are estimated using tbgegted unit
credit method. Under this method, benefit rights allocated to periods of service according toplan’s vesting
formula, taking into account a linearizing effechem rights are not vested uniformly over subseqpeniods of
service.

The amounts of future benefits payable to emplogeesneasured on the basis of assumptions abaeuy satreases,
retirement age and mortality, and then discountetheéir present value at a rate based on inteadss on the long-
term bonds of top-grade issuers.

When the assumptions used in the calculation atise®, actuarial differences result which are redoed in equity,
in line with the option offered by the amendmentAS 19.

The net expense of the period, corresponding tcstime of the cost of services rendered, the excefseocost of
accretion over the expected return on the plant@asard the spreading of past service costs, grezed in full in
personnel expenses.
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K) Translation of financial statements of foreign compnies

The presentation currency used by the group igtine.

As a general rule, the functional currency usedfdrgign companies is their local currency. In caséere the
majority of transactions are conducted in a curyasiber than the local currency, that currencysisdi

To ascertain whether a country is in hyperinflatithhe group refers to the list published by the R (American
Institute of Certified Public Accountajtsiternational Task Force. None of the countriesvhich RCI Banque does
any significant amount of business features onlittis

The financial statements of the group’s foreign panies are drawn up in their functional currenayd dhen
translated into the group’s presentation currersciplows:

- Balance sheet items other than equity, which afte &ethe historic exchange rate, are translateclasing
exchange rates;

- Income statement items are translated at the aweeag for the period;

- Translation adjustments are included as a sepenatponent of consolidated equity and do not affemime.

Goodwill and measurement differences realized wtwmnbining with a foreign company are treated agtasand
liabilities of the acquired entity.

When a foreign company is disposed of, the traisiatifferences in its assets and liabilities, poesly recognized in
equity, are recognized in the income statement.

L) Translation of foreign currency transactions

Transactions made by an entity in a currency othan its functional currency are translated andkbdoin the
functional currency at the rate in effect on theedauch transactions are made.

On the statement closing date, cash assets anlitibahin currencies other than the entity’s fuootl currency are
translated at the exchange rate in effect on th#t.dGains or losses from such foreign currencystegion are
recorded in the income statement.

M) Financial liabilities (IAS 39)

The RCI Banque group recognizes financial liatefiticonsisting of bonds and similar obligations,otiagple debt
securities, securities issued as part of secuiiiizaransactions and amounts owed to credit irtibins.

Any issuance costs and premiums on financial ligdsl are amortized over the term of the issue @iog to the
effective interest rate method.

When first recognized, financial liabilities are asered at fair value net of transaction costs tyrettributable to
their issuance.

At each closing, financial liabilities are measuwsgdamortized cost using the effective interest raethod, except
when specific hedge accounting procedures are cgtyi. The financial expenses calculated in thig imalude
issuance costs and issue or redemption premiums.

Financial liabilities covered by a fair value hedgee accounted for as described Derivatives and hedge
accounting (1AS 39).
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N) Structured products and embedded derivatives (IAS 9)

The group engages in a small number of structuraasactions. These issues are hedged by derivatves to
neutralize the embedded derivative and therebyirbtaynthetic adjustable-rate liability.

The only embedded derivatives identified within fR€l Banque group correspond to indexing clausesaawed in
structured bond issues. When embedded derivatieesa closely related to the host contract, theynaeasured and
recognized separately at fair value. Changes invedue are then recognized in the income statenidmw structured
issue with the embedded derivative extractedtheehost contract, is measured and recognized attized cost.

Structured issues are associated with swaps otsasshose characteristics are strictly identicalthose of the
embedded derivative, thereby providing an effecteenomic hedge. However, because the use of ahatilee to
hedge another derivative is prohibited by IAS 3apedded derivatives that are separated from thiecoogract and
swaps associated with structured issues are a@wbtortas if held for trading purposes.

O) Derivatives and hedge accounting (IAS 39)

Risks
The RCI Banque group’s management of financialsrigkterest-rate risk, currency risk, counterpaigk and
liquidity risk) is described in the risk managemehnapter of this document.

The RCI Banque group enters derivative contractpaas of its currency and interest-rate risk manag@ policy.
Whether or not these financial instruments are toegounted for as hedging instruments dependseandhgibility
for hedge accounting.

The financial instruments used by RCI Banque caoléssified as fair value hedges or cash flow hedgefair value
hedge protects against changes in the fair valtlkeofssets and liabilities hedged. A cash flonwgkautotects against
changes in the value of cash flows associatedenitting or future assets or liabilities.

Measurement

Derivatives are measured at fair value when fiesbgnized. Subsequently, fair value is re-estimategbach closing
date.

- The fair value of forward currency agreements amdericy swaps is determined by discounting cashsflat
market interest rates and exchange rates at thmgldate.

- The fair value of interest-rate derivatives repn¢savhat the group would receive (or would payutovind the
contracts at the closing date, taking into accanmealized gains or losses as determined by cuimenest rates
at the closing date.

Fair value hedge
RCI Banque has elected to apply fair value hedgewatting in the following cases:

- Hedging interest-rate risk on fixed rate liabilitiesing a receive fixed/pay variable swap or cooseency swap;

- Hedging currency risk on foreign currency assetgbilities using a cross currency swap.

Fair value hedge accounting is applied on the bakislocumentation of the hedging relation at théedaf
implementation of the tests of fair value hedgedtffeness, which are performed at each balanes dhee.

Changes in the value of fair value hedging denwstiare recognized in the income statement.

For financial liabilities covered by a fair valuedye, only the hedged component is measured andmeed at fair
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value, in accordance with IAS 39. Changes in thieievaf the hedged component are recognized in ribenie
statement. The unhedged component of these fildiadidities is measured and recognized at amedizost.

If the hedging relationship is terminated before #md of its term, the hedging derivative is cfess$ias an asset or
liability held for trading purposes, and the iteedbed is recognized at amortized cost in an ameguil to its last
fair value measurement.

Cash flow hedge

RCI Banque has elected to apply cash flow hedgeusmting in the following cases:

- Hedging interest-rate risk on variable rate lidigii using a receive/pay fixed swap, enabling theetme backed by
fixed rate assets (macro-hedge from the economgppetive);

- Hedging future or probable cash flows in foreigmrency.

Cash flow hedge effectiveness tests are performedch balance sheet date to ensure that the nélreasactions
are eligible for hedge accounting. For the secgpd tf hedging, the test performed entails asaengithat interest-
rate exposure on the cash flows from reinvestmémoa-derivative financial assets is indeed redubgdhe cash
flows from the derivatives used for hedging.

Changes in the value of the effective part of clieWw hedging derivatives are recognized in equitya special
revaluation reserve account.

Trading transactions

This line item includes transactions not eligilde fiedge accounting under IAS 39 and currency medigansactions
to which the RCI Banque group has preferred naipjay hedge accounting.

Changes in the value of these derivatives are rézed in the income statement.

These transactions mainly include:

- foreign exchange transactions with an initial miagwf less than one year,

- identified embedded derivatives that are part efgioup’s structured issues, and the associateplsswa

- swaps contracted in connection with securitizatiansactions,

- receive variable/pay variable swaps in a givenenay to hedge interest-rate risk on variable-rsgads.

P) Information pertaining to counterparty risks on derivatives

Exposure relating to counterparty risk is monitousthg two methods.

Individual monitoring of credit risk is based oniaternal fixed-rate method. Among other thinggadtors in the risk
of delivery and draws on an internal rating metlaetermined jointly with the Renault shareholdemjch links the
limit assigned to each counterparty to a score tdig#s several weighted risk factors into accooapital adequacy,
financial solvency ratio, long and short-term rgsifby credit rating agencies, qualitative appras$sihe counterparty.
The fixed-rate method is also used to measure wheath counterparty risk incurred on all derivasveontracted by
the RCI Banque group. It is based on weightingofiesct

These weighting factors are linked to the typenstrument (3% per annum for transactions denondniaite single
currency, and 12% per annum over the first two yezfrthe initial term then 4% over the followingaye for

transactions involving two currencies) and the tlaraof the transaction. These coefficients areritibnally higher
than those stipulated by capital adequacy reguistiavhich is a deliberately prudent and consereadpproach given
current market conditions. No compensation is mzeteeen risks relating to positions that neutra¢iaeh other with
the same counterparty.

Overall monitoring with the "mark to market poséiv+ add-on" method is also done.
It is based on the so-called "major risks" regulatoethod. For current account cash deposits arpluses, exposure
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is recognized on the basis of the nominal amoumt.d€rivatives (rate and exchange), this is catedlas the sum of
potential losses, calculated on the basis of th#acement value of contracts with the counterpavtthout
compensation with potential gains, plus an "add+@ptesenting the potential future risk. This pttdriuture risk is
determined by French banking regulations (miniatesrder of 20 February 2007 on capital adequaquirements

applicable to credit institutions and investmennpanies article 267-3) as follows:

Residual term Interest rate options Foreign currency and gold
(as a percentage of the options (as a percentage of
nominal) the nominal)
<=1 year 0% 1%
1 year <term <=5 years 0.50% 5%
> 5 years 1.50% 7.50%

Q) Operating segments (IFRS 8)

Segment reporting is presented in the annual finhetatements in accordance with IFRS 8 “Operafiagments”.

RCI Banque is tasked with offering a comprehensarge of financing products and services to its ¢tae markets:
end Customers (Retail and Corporate) and the Rendigisan, Dacia and Renault Samsung Motors brasaled
network. These two segments have different exgeottneeds and demands, and so each require ificsppproach
in terms of marketing, management processes, lduress, sales methods and communication. Adjustriamie
been made to the group’s organization to make risistent with these two types of customer, to gtifeen its
management and support role and to increase é@gration with Renault and Nissan, especially withpect to sales
and marketing aspects.

In accordance with IFRS 8, segmentation by marksttherefore been adopted as the operating segmoanteethod.
This is in line with the strategic focus develog®dthe company. The information presented is basedhternal
reports sent to the group Executive Committee,tified as the “chief operating decision maker” untfeRS 8.

A breakdown by market is thus provided for the maicome statement as well as for average perforruag
outstandings in the corresponding periods.

Since 1 January 2009, as decided by the ExecGivemittee, the formerly separate Retail and Coieosagments
have been consolidated into the single “Customegh®ent. The breakdown of operating segments asreeqhy
IFRS 8 has followed the same segmentation.

The Dealer segment covers financing granted t&keneault-Nissan Alliance Dealer network.

The Customer segment covers all financing andaelservices for all customers other than Dealers.

Results are presented separately for each of thesmarket segments.
Refinancing and holding activities are grouped thgeunder “Other activities”.

Renault, Nissan and Dacia multi-brand sales fimapekctivities have been combined.

R) Insurance

The accounting policies and measurement rules fapéeiassets and liabilities generated by insueatentracts
issued by consolidated insurance companies arklisbied in accordance with IFRS 4.

Other assets held and liabilities issued by insrgammpanies follow the rules common to all ofgheup’s assets
and liabilities, and are presented in the samenbalaheet and consolidated income statement items.
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Technical liabilities on insurance contracts:

» Reserve for unearned premiums (non-life insuran€ekhnical reserves for unearned premiums are
equivalent to the portion of the premiums relatingthe period between the inventory date and the
following endowment date. They are determined pnosata basis.

* Policy reserves (life insurance): These are intdnidecover the long-term obligations (or payment of
benefits) resulting from the commitments given, #relcosts of managing such contracts.

 Reserve for outstanding claims: the reserve fostantling claims represents the estimation, net of
outstanding recoveries, of the cost of all claiggarted but not yet settled at the closing date.

* IBNR (Incurred But Not Reported) claim reservesesth are reserves for claims not yet reported,
estimated on a statistical basis.

The guarantees offered cover death, disabilityumddncy and unemployment as part of a loan protecti
insurance policy. These types of risk are contdollerough the use of appropriate mortality tabkatistical
checks on loss ratios for the population groupsri and through a reinsurance program.

Liability adequacy test: a goodness-of-fit testednat ensuring that insurance liabilities are adegwith respect
to current estimations of future cash flows geregtdiy the insurance contracts is performed at e@tbment of
account. Future cash flows resulting from the caoit take into account the guarantees and optidreyent
therein. In the event of inadequacy, the potetdigdes are fully recognized in net income.

Income statement:

The income and expenses recognized for the insereotracts issued by the RCI Banque group appetoei
income statement in “Net income of other activitiasd “Net expense of other activities”.
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3. GROUP STRUCTURE

Changes in the scope of consolidation in 2011

In 2011 the structure of the group was affectethisyfollowing events:

- Diac Location S.A. took over Sigma Services SoA.30 April 2011 with retro-active effect fronf' Danuary
2011;

- RCI Bank AG merged with RCI Banque SA then waslenmto a branch with retro-active effect frothdanuary
2011;

- The newly formed branch RCI Banque Branch Irelantéred the scope of consolidation on 30 Septe@ikt.

Changes in the scope of consolidation in 2010

In 2010, there was no change in the group’s scbperesolidation.

Foreign affiliates that do not have a tax agreemenwith France

In accordance with the Order of 6 October 2009ipliaation of Article L. 511-45 of th€ode monétaire et financier
(French Monetary and Financial Code), RCI Banqudades that it has a 95% holding in RCI Serviciagothbia
S.A in Colombia. The latter’'s business consistseiteiving commissions on lending provided to a hess$ partner.
This affiliate’s main management indicators are itwwad on a monthly basis. In 2011, pre-tax incorage to
€2.3m.
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4. ADAPTING TO THE ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL ENVIRONMENT

In a volatile and uncertain economic environmeiit] Banque maintains its prudent financial policyl aainforces its
liquidity management and control system. Furtheen&CI Banque is not exposed to the sovereign d#l@reece,
Spain, Italy, Ireland or Portugal.

Liquidity

RCI Banque's management of liquidity risk is basedeveral indicators or analyses, updated mouwthlghe basis of
the latest in-force business forecasts (customsee bad network) and completed refinancing transastiThe system
has undergone an internal audit and a review byb#irking regulator (ACP) and has been reinforcedifyating
internal procedures, duly ratified by the Boardafectors on 15 November 2011:;

Static liquidity : RCI Banque’s aim is to achieve positive statguidity. Assets generated in the past have been
financed by debts with longer maturity.

Predictive liquidity, the “worst case scenario” this indicator factors in projections of new mess activity in a
maximum stress test context that predicts no actessly new resources. This scenario is the indicased in
external reporting, especially to rating agenaidsch demand a clear view of liquidity over at kea$s-month period.
It is used to establish two indicators:

= The number of possible business days without adoetb® market, only making use of confirmed bankd
and funds raised from the ECB (internal monitormgl external reporting indicator),
= Liquidity pool (internal monitoring and externabeting indicator).

Predictive liquidity, the “grey” stress scenario: this is achieved on the basis of assumptions oftcaimed
financing: closure of bond markets, restricted asde short term funding, access to securitizaff®®B and conduit
corporations). This analysis is completed by sitimdpthe changes in the projected liquidity pool.

The liquidity pool stands at €3,443m at 31 December 2011. This remseswailable liquidity surplus to the

certificates of deposit and commercial paper onthtys. The group has a duty to maintain sourcealtefnative
liquidity above the level of its short-term negbtmdebt securities.

Credit business risk

Following the strengthening of the recovery struestbetween the end of 2008 and early 2009, reggazformances
improved from the first quarter 2009 onwards. Biirig the Probability of Default derived from scagisystems into
account in the management of new gross lendingfghiorquality across all major markets was imprdve

After reaching a historically low point in 2010wer than the level observed before the financiaisrthe risk cost of
the commercial portfolio continued to fall in 20k nefiting from improved acceptance and collecgolicies.

As the economic outlook remained uncertain, theérabred oversight of the approval policy introddca the start of
the crisis was maintained. Acceptance systemsdjustad according to the stress tests, which adated quarterly
for the main countries per segment (private custejreorporate customers). All in all, the qualifygooss lending is
in line with the objectives set.

In an uncertain economic climate and changing enwirent, RCI Banque remains on the alert with thre af
maintaining the overall cost of risk at a level gatible with the expectations of the financial commity and yield
targets.

Profitability

-22 -



RCI Banque group— Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2011

The credit margins observed on the markets havergonde significant changes. In such a volatile eéxmntRCI
Banque group responds very promptly and regularlyses the costs of internal liquidity used to @raustomer
transactions, thereby maintaining a margin on renwihg in line with budget targets.

Similarly, the pricing of financing granted to dewd is indexed on an internal base rate refledfegcost of the
borrowed resources and liquidity cushions neededbfisiness continuity. This method maintains adsteaturn for
this business.

Governance
The liquidity indicators have been the subjectartipular scrutiny at each monthly Financial Cone@tmeeting.
The country management committees have also meditoisk and instant projected margin indicators emor

systematically, thereby completing the routine sssents of subsidiary profitability.

Exposure to credit risk (excluding business activit)

Due to its structurally borrower position, the REAnque group's exposure to bank credit risk istéichio short-term
deposits of cash surpluses, and interest-raterek foedging with derivatives. These transactioesnaade with first-
class banks that have been duly approved by thet€qarty Committee. Against a backdrop of highatibity in the

second half of the year, RCI Banque has also gagka@ttention to diversifying its counterparties.

Refinancing

* In order to diversify its bank borrowings and ilitotal resources obtained from a single counteypahe trading
room has developed relations with a great numbeaoks and intermediaries, both in France and abroa

* In order to diversify its sources of refinanciimg2011 the RCI Banque launched:
an initial dollar issue totalling $1,250m

an issue distribute to the general public of Bexébu €50m

an initial public offering of 300 million BRL (Bralzan real)

an issue of 175 million CHF (Swiss francs)

3 issues totalling 210 billion KRW (Korean won)

4 issues totalling 262 million ARS (Argentinian psk

VVVVYVYY

* Diversification in sources of funds also matériadl in 2011 by two new conduit securitizationsdpproximately
€ 950m , as well as a new public ABS backed byr@ercar loans for € 800m.
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5. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 : Segment information

1.1 - Segmentation by market

In millions of euros Customer fir?:nilier:q Other Total 12/2011
Average performing loan outstandings 17 103 51717 22 820
Net banking income 940 172 71 1189
Gross operating income 664 137 3] 832
Operating income 604 145 3] 780
Pre-tax income 609 145 37 786
In millions of euros Customer fir?:nﬂ;;rq Other Total 12/2010
Average performing loan outstandings 15913 5p68 20981
Net banking income 859 165 114 1134
Gross operating income 578 130 79 787
Operating income 484 139 79 702
Pre-tax income 487 139 78 704

A breakdown by market is provided for the main imeostatement as well as for average performing loan
outstandings in the corresponding periods.

At the Net Banking Income level, given that mosttieé RCI Banque group’s segment income comes from
interest, the latter are shown net of interest esps.

The earnings of each business segment are determmthe basis of internal or fiscal analytical wemtions for

intercompany billing and valuation of funds alladt The equity allocated to each business segmetitei

capital effectively made available to the affilmtand branches and then divided among them acgptdin
internal analytical rules.

Average performing loan outstandings is the opegatidicator used to monitor outstandings. As itiScator is
the arithmetic mean of outstandings, its valuedfwge differs from the outstandings featuring ia fRCIl Banque

group’s assets, as presented in Notes 5 and 6o@estfinance transactions and similar/Customernfiea
transactions by business segment.

1.2 Segmentation by geographic region

Information about financial and commercial perfonoe in the main geographic regions is presentethen
“Group operations” table appended to this document.
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31 December 2011

Note 2 : Derivatives

In millions of euros 12/201:_ 12/204 —
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities recgnized 26 42 1 84

as derivatives held for trading purposes

Currency derivatives 26 42 1 84

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities recgnized 284 49 8( 58

as derivatives used for hedging

Interest-rate and currency derivatives: Fair viledges 273 | I3 15

Interest-rate derivatives: Cash flow hedges 11 48 5 38

Total derivatives 310 91 81 13}

These line items mainly include OTC derivativestcacted by the RCI Banque group as part of itsenay and

interest-rate risk hedging policy.

The transactions that give rise to entries undey lleading are described in: “Financial liabilitigdS 39)” and

“Derivatives and hedge accounting (IAS 39)”".

Changes in the cash flow hedging instrument revaldgn reserve

Schedule for the transfer of the CFH reser

In millions of euros Chisc:]gfilr?g\]lv account to the income statemel
<1 year 1to 5 years +5 years
Balance at 31 December 2009 (51) (47 (4
Changes in fair value recognized in equity (25)
Transfer to income statement 71
Balance at 31 December 2010 (5) (5)
Changes in fair value recognized in equity (12)
Transfer to income statement 15
Balance at 31 December 2011 ) 2 (4

With respect to cash flow hedging, the above tablews the periods during which RCI Banque expeash c

flows to intervene and affect the income statement.

Changes in the cash flow hedging reserve resutt tbanges in the fair value of the hedging instmisiearried in
equity, and from the transfer of the period toitteome statement at the same rate as the item thedge
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Nominal values of derivative instruments by maturiyy and management intent

In millions of euros 0-1 year 1-5 years +5years | Total 12/2011

Hedging of currency risk

Forex transactions
Currency loaned, not yet delivered
Currency borrowed, not yet received 1 1

Forward forex contracts

Sales 1219 1219
Purchases 1224 1224
Currency swaps

Loans 492 1 022 1514
Borrowings 506 972 1478

Hedging of interest-rate risk

Interest rate swaps

Lender 3878 6 969 10 847
Borrower 3878 6 969 10 847
In millions of euros 0-1 year 1-5 years +5years | Total 12/2010

Hedging of currency risk

Forex transactions
Currency loaned, not yet delivered
Currency borrowed, not yet received 1 1

Forward forex contracts

Sales 533 533
Purchases 524 524
Currency swaps

Loans 578 529 1107
Borrowings 602 541 1143

Hedging of interest-rate risk

Forward Rate Agreement (F.R.A)
Sales (Loans)

Purchases (borrowings) 1100 1100
Interest rate swaps

Lender 3362 3 463 60 7 425
Borrower 3362 3 463 60 7 425

At 31 Decembe 2011 accordin to the "positive mark to marke + adc on" methodology the counterpal risk
exposure is € 739m. According to the internal methodologis € 2,004m against € 1,503m at 31 December 2010.
These figures apply only to credit institutions. They wee¢edmined without taking into account netting agreements i
accordance with the methodology described in adouyprinciples (Note P
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Note 3 : Financial assets available for sale andlwr financial assets

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Financial assets available for sale 36 16
Government debt securities and similar 36 15
Bonds and other fixed income securities 1

Other financial assets 29 9
Interests in companies controlled but not constdidia 29 9
Total financial assets available for sale and othéiinancial assets 65 21

Note 4 : Amounts receivable from credit institutiors

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Credit balances in sight accounts at credit instittions 875 809
Ordinary accounts in debit 842 798
Overnight loans 32 10
Accrued interest 1 1
Term deposits at credit institutions 72 183
Term loans 70 182
Doubtful receivables 2 1
Total amounts receivable from credit institutions 947 992

Credit balances in sight accounts are includetierf€ash and cash equivalents” line item in thé dlsv statement.
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Note 5 : Customer finance transactions and similar

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Loans and advances to customers 24 877 21 951
Customer finance transactions 18 551 16 264
Finance lease transactions 6 326 5 682
Operating lease transactions 59 72
Total customer finance transactions and similar 24 936 22 023
5.1 - Customer finance transactions
In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Loans and advances to customers 19 423 17 269
Factoring 565 397
Other commercial receivables 106 112
Other customer credit 17 739 15711
Ordinary accounts in debit 272 140
Doubtful and compromised receivables 741 903
Interest receivable on customer loans and advances 73 49
Other customer credit 44 28
Ordinary accounts 6 1
Doubtful and compromised receivables 23 20
Total of items included in amortized cost - Custonreloans and advances 217) (25p)
Staggered handling charges and sundry expenseiRé from customers (118) (198)
Staggered contributions to sales incentives by fiaatwrer or dealers (35B) (349)
Staggered fees paid for referral of business 254 205
Impairment on loans and advances to customers (728 (791
Impairment on delinquent or at-risk receivables (160 (148
Impairment on doubtful and compromised receivables (546 (624
Impairment on residual value (22) (19
Total customer finance transactions, net 18 551 16 264

The securitization transactions were not intenaecesult in derecognition of the receivables assigmhe assigned
receivables as well as the accrued interest andifmpnt allowances on them continue to appear eragiset side of

the group’s balance sheet.

The factoring receivables result from the acquigitby the group of the Renault-Nissan Alliance’snotercial
receivables.
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Reconciliation between gross investment in finandease contracts at the closing date

and present value of minimum payments receivable

In millions of euros <1 year 1to 5 years >5years| Total 12/20)1
Finance leases - net investment 3231 321§ 1 6 456
Finance leases - future interest receivable 281 174 455
Finance leases - gross investment 3512 3 397 1 6 91[L
Amount of residual value guaranteed to RCI Banqueg 1 357 159 2954
Of which amount guaranteed by related parties 698 649 2 1349
Minimum payments receivable under the lease 2815 2 743 4 5561
(excluding amounts guaranteed by related pasfesequired by IAS 1

In millions of euros <1year 1to5years >5years| Total 12/2040
Finance leases - net investment 2829 2 997 q 5832
Finance leases - future interest receivable 236 157, 393
Finance leases - gross investment 3 065 3 154 (i 6 22p
Amount of residual value guaranteed to RCI Banquey 1273 1 521 2 800
Of which amount guaranteed by related parties 665 694 1 1360
Minimum payments receivable under the lease 2400 2 454 q 4 864
(excluding amounts guaranteed by related padiesequired by IAS 1
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5.3 - Operating lease transactions

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Operating lease transactions 65 80
Non-current assets, net of security deposits 63 74
Doubtful non-current assets and Doubtful and comised receivables 6
Impairment on operating leases (6) (8)
Impairment on doubtful and compromised lease cotdra ) (4)
Impairment on residual value (4) (4)
Total operating lease transactions, net 59 72

The amount of minimum future payments receivable uder operating non-cancelable lease contracts is alyaed as fo

In millions of euros <1year 1to5years >5years| Total 12/20)1
Operating leases - Gross investment 49 18 3 70
Residual value not guaranteed 14 2 16
Minimum payments receivable under the lease 36 15 3 54
In millions of euros <1year 1to 5 years >5years| Total 12/2040
Operating leases - Gross investment 64 23 87
Residual value not guaranteed 11 7 18
Minimum payments receivable under the lease 53 16 69

5.4 - Maximum exposure to credit risk and indication cmcerning the quality of receivables deemed non

impaired by the RCI Banque group.

At 31 December 2011, the RCI Banque group’s maxinagigregate exposure to credit risk stood at €28y 8this
exposure chiefly includes the net loans outstandingn sales financing, sundry debtors, asset dévas and
irrevocable financing commitments on the RCI Banagueup’s off-balance sheet (see Note 21: Commitment

received).

Amount of receivables due

In millions of euros 12/2011 ‘)l:nvgz:‘:: | 1212010 OI;";Z:‘:: s
Receivables due 661 17 723 2]
Between 0 and 90 days 82 17 93 21
Between 90 and 180 days 54 56
Between 180 days and 1 year 33 45
More than one year 492 529

(1) Only includes fully or partially (on an individl basis) non-impaired sales financing receivables
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The risks on the quality of customer loans are s&&sk (using a score system) and monitored perdf/eisiness
(Customer and Dealer). At the statement closing,dad component affected the credit quality of dae-and non-
impaired sales financing receivables.

There is no significant concentration of risks witthe sales financing customer base.

As at 31 December 2011, guarantees held on doutfiglinquent receivables totaled €537m, compaidd€462m
at 31 December 2010.

5.5 - Residual values of risk carried by RCI Banque

The total risk on residual values carried by thd Banque group amounted to €413m in 2011 againk®®@3n 2010.
It was covered by provisions totaling 4 million esirin 2011 (essentially affecting the United Kinggo This
provision was 1 million euros less than in Decen#it0.

Note 6 : Customer finance transactions by businesegment

In millions of euros Customer Dealer Other Total 12/201]
Gross value 18 861 6 493 44¢ 25 8(0
Non-impaired receivables 18 202 6 244 44% 24 891
Doubtful receivables 147 211 359
Compromised receivables 512 38 1 551
% of doubtful and compromised receivables 3,49% 3,B3%  0,22%) 3,529
Impairment allowance on individual basis (600 (189) 1 (789
Non-impaired receivables (62) (70 (132
Doubtful receivables (86) (81 (167
Compromised receivables (452 (37 (1 (490
Impairment allowance on collective basis (33) (4p) Tp
Impairment (15) (34 (49
Country risk (18) (8 (26
Net value (*) 18 228 6 264 44% 24 936
(*) Of which: related parties (excluding pafipation in incentives 9 485 233 27

and fees paid for referra
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In millions of euros Customer Dealer Other Total 12/201
Gross value 17 503 5171 298 22 992
Non-impaired receivables 16 779 4 804 298 21 8748
Doubtful receivables 164 316 3 483
Compromised receivables 560 49 2 611
% of doubtful and compromised receivables 4,14% 7,p6% 1,68%) 4,769
Impairment allowance on individual basis (654) (223) ) (878
Non-impaired receivables (61) (63 (124
Doubtful receivables (98) (112 (1 (214
Compromised receivables (495 47 (1 (543
Impairment allowance on collective basis (3%) (38) L
Impairment (21) 27 (48
Country risk (17) (6 (23
Net value (*) 16 811 4914 296 22 043
(*) Of which: related parties (excluding pafipation in incentives 15 520 106 641

and fees paid for referra

Business segment information is given in detaiate 1.

The “Other” category includes refinancing and hoddactivities.

The provision for country risk primarily affects &il and to a lesser extent Argentina, Romania, ddoo and

Hungary.

Note 7 : Adjustment accounts - Assets

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Tax receivables 176 153
Current tax assets 8 20
Deferred tax assets 82 85
Tax receivables other than on current income tax 86 48
Adjustment accounts and other assets 342 320
Other sundry debtors 145 108
Adjustment accounts - Assets 29 32
Other assets 1
Items received on collections 108 143
Reinsurer part in technical provisions 60 36
Total adjustment accounts — Assets and other ass€t3 518 473
(*) Of which related parties 102 63

Deferred tax assets are analyzed in note 30.
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Changes in the share of reinsurers in the techrésalrves are analyzed as follows:

Changes in the part of reinsurance in the technicgbrovions

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Reinsurer part in technical provisions at the begining of period 36 15
Increase of the technical provisions chargeabteittsurers 26 22
Claims recovered from reinsurers (2) (2)
Reinsurer part in technical provisions at the end bperiod 60 36
Note 8 : Interests in associates
. 12/2011 12/2010
In millions of euros Share of net [\ - Share of net [~ |
asset et income asset et income

Nissan Renault Finance Mexico (Customer financing) 6|3 6 34 2
Total interests in associates 36 6 34 2

Note 9 : Tangible and intangible non-current assets

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Intangible assets: net 2 2
Gross value 29 29
Accumulated amortization and impairment (27) 27
Property, plant and equipment: net 20 23
Gross value 109 109
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (89) (86
Total tangible and intangible non-current assets 22 25
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Note 10 : Goodwill

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Germany 12 12
United Kingdom 38 36
Italy 9 9
Argentina 7 8
South Korea 17 17
Total goodwill from acquisitions by country 83 82

Given the slump in the Hungarian business, thiswtgis goodwill was fully impaired in 2008.

Note 11 : Liabilities to credit institutions and cuwstomers, and debt evidenced by certificates

11.1 - Liabilities by measurement method

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Liabilities measured at amortized cost 17 505 17 574
Amounts payable to credit institutions 3963 3939
Amounts payable to customers 718 656
Debt evidenced by certificates 12 824 12 98
Liabilities measured at fair value hedge 5158 2 313
Amounts payable to credit institutions 170 169
Debt evidenced by certificates 4988 2 144
Total financial debts 22 663 19 881
11.2 - Amounts payable to credit institutions
In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Sight accounts payable to credit institutions 150 164
Ordinary accounts 80 65
Overnight borrowings 2
Other amounts owed 70 97
Term accounts payable to credit institutions 3983 3943
Term borrowings 3879 3 899
Accrued interest 104 44
Total liabilities to credit institutions (*) 4133 41071
(*) Of which related parties 99
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Sight accounts are included in the “Cash and cqslvalents” line item in the cash flow statement.

The book value of receivables provided as collatertheSociété de financement de I'économie francéideEF) by
RCI Banque totaled €1,225m at 31 December 201dxdhange for a refinancing of €785m.

Moreover, the book value of the collateral presgnte the Banque Centrale (3G) amounted to €2,601m a
31 December 2011, including €172m of private actouaceivable and €2,429m in collateralized segatitity
shares. The balance of the funding provided by Eheopean Central Bank in exchange for assigneduatso
receivable amounts to €350m at 31 December 20EinstgE450m at 31 December 2010), now listed uttdeabove
heading “Term borrowings”, in accordance with FieriBanking Federation (FBF) recommendations (preshou
listed under “Securities covered by repurchaseemgeats”).

11.3 - Amounts payable to customers

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Amounts payable to customers 711 648

Ordinary accounts in credit 94 95

Term accounts in credit 617 553

Other amounts payable to customers and Accrued intest 7 8

Other amounts payable to customers 6

Accrued interest on ordinary accounts in credit 1

Total liabilities to customers (*) 718 656
(*) Of which related parties (1) 657 599

(1) Term accounts in credit include a €550m castramh agreement given to RCI Banque SA by the n@tufer
Renault, covering, without any geographical exaeysj against the risks of the Renault Retail Grdefaulting.
This cash warrant agreement replaces the two egiatjreements.
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11.4 - Debt evidenced by certificates

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Interbank market securities 824
Interbank securities 763
Accrued interest on interbank market securities 61
Negotiable debt securities (1) 3213 2714
Certificates of deposit 3064 2 553
Commercial paper and similar 70 126
French MTNs and similar 37 28
Accrued interest on negotiable debt securities 42 9
Other debt evidenced by certificates (2) 3704 3774
Other debt evidenced by certificates 3700 3773
Accrued interest on other debt evidenced by ceatifis 4 3
Bonds and similar 10 895 7 809
Bonds 10 776 7 694
Accrued interest on bonds 119 111
Total debt evidenced by certificates (*) 17 812 15 124

(*) Of which related parties 127

(1) Certificates of deposit, commercial paper &nginch MTNs are issued by RCI Banque SA, CFl RGisBrand
DIAC SA.

(2) Other debt evidenced by certificates consisisigrily of the securities issued by the vehiclesated for the
French (Diac SA and Cogera SA), Italian (RCI Susal@), German (RCI Banque Niederlassung) and UKl (RC
Financial Services Ltd) securitizations.

11.5 - Breakdown of financial liabilities by rate ype before derivatives

. , 12/201: 12/201(

En millions d'euros Variable Fixed Total Variable Fixed Total
Amounts payable to credit institutions 1078 3055 4133 944 3 163 4107
Amounts payable to customers 6[16 102 718 606 50 656
Interbank market securities 457 367 824
Negotiable debt securities 13b7 1957 3214 927 1789 2716
Other debt evidenced by certificates 3489 P14 3703 3 547 229 3776
Bonds 1511 938§t 10895 1107 6 701 7 808
Total financial liabilities by rate 8 051 14 617 2563 7 588 12 299 19 847

11.6 - Breakdown of financial liabilities by maturity

The breakdown of financial liabilities by maturis/shown in note 17.
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Note 12 : SECURITIZATION

In millions of euros

SECURITIZATION - public issues

Ceding entity DIAC SA COGERA SA RCI Banque RCI Niederlassung
Succursale ltaliana
Country France France ltalie Allemagne
Start date October 2006 April 2010 July 2007 July 2010 ecénber 2011
Maximum term of fund October 2020 October 2015 Octatf3 April 2023 April 2023

Cars Alliance Auto

FCT Cars Alliance

Alliance Auto Loans

Cars Alliance Auto Loans Germany FQ
Asset SPV Loans France FCC DFP France Italy SPV Loi 130 y
Initial purchase of receivables 2323 1235 1402 1793
Kind of purchased receivables Auto loans to . Receivables Auto loans to Auto loans to customers
customers independent dealerp customers
Receivables purchased as of 1830 1545 1239 1925

Credit enhancement as at

Cash reserve for 0,1(

Over-collateralizatiof]
of receivables 16,49

Cash reserve for 19

Over-collateralizatio
of receivables 13,69

o

Over-collateralizatiorn
of receivables 4,619

Cash reserve for|1%

Over-collateralizatiol
of receivables 15,8

Cash eegart %

Over-
collateralization of
0 .
receivables 12,79

Cars Alliance Auto

FCT Cars Alliance

Cars Alliance Fundin

. ) .
Cars Alliance Auto Loans Germany FQ
Issuing SPV Loans France FCC DFP France PLC Irlande y
Public issues Class A Séries 2010-1 Clags A Séries-2QClass A Class A Class A
Medium-term Rating AAA Rating AAA Rating AAA Rating AAA Rating AAA
Notes in issue as at 337,6 750,0 288,7 679,0 800,0
(including any units held Class B Séries 2005-1 ClsSeéries 2007-1 Class B Class B Class B
by the RCI Banque group) Rating A No Rated Rating A iftpA Rating A
94,3 36,5 35,5 28,0 25,7
7
Listed private placement Class R Séries 2005-2 ,7/// Class R
Short term Rating AAA Rating AAA Rating AAA
Notes in issue as at 1136,5 250,0 176,8

The RCI Banque group carried out a number of sezation transactions (France, Italy and Germamgustizing
amounts receivable from the distribution networl &inal customer credits, by means of special psepeehicles.

These securitization transactions were not intertdedesult in derecognition of the receivables d¢farred, as the
whole of the risk is kept by the group. At 31 Debem2011, the amount of the sales financing rebédgathus
maintained on the balance sheet was €8,739m (€m,2t731 December 2010). Liabilities of €3,704m haeen
booked under ‘Other debt evidenced by certificatesfresponding to the securities issued duringetsecuritization
transactions. The difference between the amountcdivables purchased and the amount of the afertiomed
liabilities corresponds to the credit enhancememded for these transactions and to the sharecofises kept by

RCI Banque group, serving as a liquidity reserve.

In accordance with the rules of consolidation, agsidual units and short-term units held by RCI @an SA have
been eliminated from the consolidated financiaiesteents.
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In addition, and as part of its efforts to diveystb refinancing, certain transactions are secsedonduit:

-in 2011: €630m of dealer receivables in Germany

-in 2011: €680m of customer leasing contracts énn@ny
-in 2011: £799.5m of customer receivables in thiad Kingdom

As these issues were private, their terms and tiondiare not disclosed in the above table.

All securitized receivables, including accrued iiast not yet due, remain on the asset side ofdlenbe sheet.

Note 13 : Adjustment accounts - Liabilities

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Taxes payable 430 360,
Current tax liabilities 80 58
Deferred tax liabilities 317 275
Taxes payable other than on current income tax 33 27
Adjustment accounts and other amounts payable 886 841
Social security and employee-related liabilities 51 48
Other sundry creditors 665 625
Adjustment accounts - liabilities 155 151
Collection accounts 15 17
Total adjustment accounts - Liabilities and other ilabilities (*) 1316 1201
(*) Of which related parties 64 91

Deferred tax assets are analyzed in note 30.
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Note 14 : Provisions

In millions of euros 12/2010 Charge Reversal Other (*) 12/2011
Used Not Used
Provisions on banking operations 84 9 (6) (4p) ® 13
Provisions for litigation risks b 1) 4
Other provisions 79 93 (5 (41 (2 124
Provisions on non-banking operations 78 1y (8) (1B) 3 77
Provisions for pensions liabilities and related 27 4 (2) 2 31
Provisions for restructuring 3 4) 3)
Provisions for tax and litigation risks 35 | 2 (2) (8 37
Other 3 1 (2 1 3
Total provisions 162 110 (14 (54) 20p

(*) Other = Reclassification, currency translati@ffects, changes in scope of consolidation

Each of the known disputes in which RCI Banqueherdroup’s companies are involved was reviewetiettosing

date. On the advice of legal counsel, provisionevestablished when deemed necessary to coveragstimsks.

Every so often, the group’s companies are subgetax audits in the countries where they are baSedontested
deficiency notices are booked by means of tax gions. Contested deficiency notices are recogréasd by case on
the basis of estimates taking into account thetnaérihe claims against the company concerned hedisk that it

may not prevail in its case.

At year-end 2011, the provisions for restructurmginly concern Germany, Spain, the United Kingdamd ¢he

Netherlands.

Changes in the actuarial reserves for contraateisby captive insurance companies break downllasvio

Changes in the insurance technical provisions

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Liabilities relative to insurance contracts in thebeginning of period 52 22
Allowance for insurance technical provisions 56 31
Services paid 3) (2)
Liabilities relative to insurance contracts at theend of period 105 52

Provisions for pension and other post-employment befits

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
France 23 22
Rest of world 8 5
Total provisions 31 27
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Principal actuarial assumptions 12/2011 12/2010
Retirement age 67 year$ 67 yeals
Salary increases 2,909 2,90%
Financial discount rate 4,36% 4,16%
Starting rate 4,34% 4,49%
Changes in provisions during the year
. Actuarial valu¢ Obligations | Unrecognize( -

- Actuarial valu . - . Provision on

In millions of euros o of invested | less invested] actuarial
of obligations| ) balance sheg]
funds funds gains/losse

Balance at 31 December 2009 45 19 P6 D6
Net charge for the year 2010 4 4 4
Benefits and contributions paid ) 2) (2)
Actuarial differences 2 (3) 1) (1)
Translation adjustment 1 1) 1 1
Projected return on assets (1) 1) 1)
Balance at 31 December 2010 0 (44) P6 1 P7
Net charge for the year 2011 5 1 6 (2) 4
Benefits and contributions paid 1) (1) 2) (2)
Actuarial differences (1) 2 2 1 3
Translation adjustment 1 (1)
Projected return on assets (1) 1) (1)
Balance at 31 December 2011 q7 (46) B1 B1

(1) of which €0.5m in actuarial value of obligatioresulting from effects of experience

Expected rates of return on invested funds in 28%16.30% in the United Kingdom, 5.18% in the Nd#rels and

2.50% in Switzerland.

Amounts recognized in the income statement for peim obligations

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Cost of services rendered 2 2
Cost of accretion 2 2
Net charges 4 4
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Note 15 : Impairments allowances to cover counterpty risk

In millions of euros 12/2010| Charge Reversal Other (*) | 12/2011
Used Not used

Impairments on banking operations 976 306 (243) (15p) 8 897
Customer finance transactions (on individual basis) 875 284 (243) (132) 79
Customer finance transactions (on collective basis) 71 22 (18 75
Securities transactions 30 1 31
Impairments on non-banking operations 8 1 1 (@) ]

Other impairment to cover counterparty risk 8 (1) 1) ( 1 8
Total provisions to cover counterparty risk 984 307 (244) (151 9 904

(*) Other = Reclassification, currency translati@ffects, changes in scope of consolidation

A breakdow by marke segmer of allowance for impairmen of asset in connectiol with custome finance operation is

provided in note ¢

Note 16 : Subordinated debt - Liabilities

€250m subordinated debt securities issued to théopn 2005 have the following characteristics:

- Maturity: in ten years (redeemable on 07/04/2015)

- Currency: euro,

- Interest rate: 3-month Euribor + 0.90.

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Liabilities measured at amortized cost 251 252
Subordinated debt 250 250
Accrued interest on subordinated debt 1 2
Hedged liabilities measured at fair value 10 11
Participating loan stock 10 11
Total subordinated liabilities 261 263

The

The remuneration on the participating loan stoskésl in 1985 by Diac SA includes a fixed comporegqutal to the
money market rate and a variable component obtaedpplying the rate of increase in the Diac stdnig's
consolidated net income for the year comparedabdhthe previous year, to 40% of the money marigt.
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Note 17 : Financial assets and liabilities by remaing term to maturity

In millions of euros Upto 3 $monthsto 1) 1yearto5 >5years | Total 12/201}
months yvear years

Financial assets 7 658 8 413 10 09p e 26 258
Derivatives 18 70 222 310
Financial assets available for sale and other izmassets ] b 2b 48 65
Amounts receivable from credit institutions 94 2 1 947
Loans and advances to customers 6672 81314 830 6124 877
Operating lease transactions 17 22 17| 3 59
Financial liabilities 6 667 4 45] 11 32f 570 23 0|15
Derivatives 41 10 40 91
Amounts payable to credit institutions 22p1 455 1Ip 10 4133
Amounts payable to customers 162 6 550 718
Debt evidenced by certificates 4212 3780 9829 17 812
Subordinated debt 1 250 10 261

In millions of euros Upto3 S months fo 1l 1yearto5 >5years | Total 12/201

months year years

Financial assets 6 826 7 114 913y Mm 23121
Derivatives 12 30 39 81
Financial assets available for sale and other izhmssets ] p 1p 9 25
Amounts receivable from credit institutions 9B4 8 992
Loans and advances to customers 5B07 71041 068 3521951
Operating lease transactions 21 33 18 72
Financial liabilities 5191 5 661 8176 1259 20 2B7
Derivatives 36 63 23 15 137
Amounts payable to credit institutions 2212 440 52p 3 4107
Amounts payable to customers 103 3 550 656
Debt evidenced by certificates 2840 4 954 6 650 680 15124
Subordinated debt 1 251 11 263
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Note 18 : Breakdown of future contractual cash flow by maturity

In millions of euros zgr:?hz 3 mc:/r:::lrs ol 1 {/eea;rto 5 >5years | Total 12/201}
Financial liabilities 6 639 4924 12 491 540 24 6B5
Derivatives 98 114 225 437
Amounts payable to credit institutions 22118 9482 1Ip 10 4027
Amounts payable to customers 161 6 550 717
Debt evidenced by certificates 3932 3 659 981y 17 408
Subordinated liabilities 250 11 261
Future interest payable 230 564 982 S 1785
Financing and guarantee commitments to customers 138 1634
Total breakdown of future contractual cash flows bymaturityl 8273 4 925{ 12 49|1 SEiO 26 2l59
In millions of euros r:rJ]Zr:(t)hz 3 m(;r:;s ol 1 yveea;rrzo 5 >5years | Total 12/201
Financial liabilities 5353 5771 8 759 1246 21 1B9
Derivatives 83 92 112 3 290
Amounts payable to credit institutions 2 207 999 52p 3 4061
Amounts payable to customers 102 3 550 655
Debt evidenced by certificates 2 856 4741 6 650 680 14 927
Subordinated liabilities 250 11 261
Future interest payable 105 336 494 S 945
Financing and guarantee commitments to customers 192 1992
Total breakdown of future contractual cash flows bymaturityl 7 345 5 77]| 8 75{3 1 25{6 23 1|31

The sum of the future contractual cash flows is emtal to the values in the balance sheet. Thi®@ause future
contractual interest and non-discounted coupon pasron swaps are taken into account.

For liability derivatives, the contractual cashwibbcorrespond to the amounts payable.

For the other non-derivative financial liabilitiethe contractual cash flows correspond to the neyeay of the par

value and the payment of interest.

Interest for variable rate financial instrumentss Heeen estimated on the basis of the interest inatffect at

31 December.
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Note 19 : Fair value of financial assets and liabtles (under IFRS 7)

19.1 - Nature hierarchy breakdown

In millions of euros 12/201; 12/201(

NBve | v | Difference NBve | v | Difference
Financial assets 26 258 26 337 79 23141 23 2p2 171
Derivatives 310 310 81 8]
Financial assets available for sale and other @ 65 65 25 25
Amounts receivable from credit institutions W7 947 992 992
Loans and advances to customers 241877 24 956 79 95Pn 22 122 17
Operating lease transactions 59 59 72 72
Financial liabilities 23 015 22 86( 15% 20 247 2058p (315
Derivatives 91 91 137 137
Amounts payable to credit institutions 4 183 4112 112 4107 4 064 41
Amounts payable to customers 8 118 556 656
Debt evidenced by certificates 17 812 17 ¢75 137 1245 15 474 (353)
Subordinated debt 261 264 (3r 264 26y M

(*) NBV : Net book value - FV : Fair value - Diffence : Unrealized gain or loss

Assumptions and methods used:

Estimated fair values have been determined usiagade market information and appropriate valuatioethods for
each type of instrument. However, the methods asslimption used are by nature theoretical, and atasutial
amount of judgment comes into play in interpretimgrket data. Using different assumptions and/ofediht
valuation methods could have a significant effectie estimated values.

Fair values have been determined on the basidarhiation available at the closing date of eachqugrand thus do
not reflect later changes.

As a general rule, whenever a financial instrunietitaded on an active, liquid market, its mosergaquoted price is
used to calculate market value. For instrumentgnaoied on such a market, market value is detedryeapplying
recognized valuation models that use observabl&kehgrarameters. If RCI Banque does not have thessecy
valuation tools necessary, as for complex prodwetsiations are obtained from leading financiatitnsons.

The main assumptions and valuation methods usetth@rfellowing:

- Financial assets

Fixed-rate loans have been estimated by discouftitoge cash flows at the interest rates offeredRiBf Banque at
31 December 2011 and at 31 December 2010 for ledhssimilar conditions and maturities.

- Loans and advances to customers

Sales financing receivables have been estimatetisopunting future cash flows at the interest thtg would have
applied to similar loans (conditions, maturity dwrower quality) at 31 December 2011 and at 31eDdxer 2010.

Customer receivables with a term of less than @ yare not discounted, as their fair value is significantly
different from net book value.
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- Financial liabilities

Fair value of financial liabilities has been estiethby discounting future cash flows at the interages offered to
RCI Banque at 31 December 2011 and 31 December #018orrowings with similar conditions and matie#.

Projected cash flows are discounted according éozéro-coupon yield curve augmented by the sprpedif& to
RCI Banque.

19.2 - Level hierarchy breakdown

. Total

In millions of euros Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 19901
Assets measured at fair value 36 310 346
Financial assets available for sale and other @izhiassets 36 36
Derivatives 310 310
Liabilities measured at fair value 10 91 101
Participating loan stock 10 10
Derivatives 91 91

The three-level hierarchy for financial instrumergsognized on the balance sheet at fair valuee@sred by IFRS,
is as follows:

- Level 1: measurements based on quoted pricestose anarkets for identical financial instruments.

- Level 2: measurements based on quoted pricestore anarkets for similar financial instrumentsrmeasurements
for which all significant data are based on obselevanarket data.

- Level 3: measurement techniques for which sigaift data are not based on observable market data.

Debts measured at amortized-fair value hedge cestray fair-value measured up to the limit of trezlged item, and
so are now excluded from the level hierarchy breakdshown above.
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Note 20 : Commitments given

(*) Of which related parties

Following the withdrawal of the car scrappage salémFrance on 31/12/2010, Diac pre-managemenhding

increased by €121m at the end of 2010.

Note 21 : Commitments received

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Financing commitments 1626 1981
Commitments to customers 1626 1 98]
Guarantee commitments 8 18
Customer guarantees 8 18
Commitments on securities 8 80
Other securities receivable 8 80
Total commitments given (*) 1642 2 079
8 18

(*) Of which related parties

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Financing commitments 4617 4 572
Commitments from credit institutions 4616 4 577
Commitments from customers 1 1
Guarantee commitments 6779 5 799
Guarantees received from credit institutions 130 127,
Guarantees from customers 3579 2790
Commitments to take back leased vehicles at theo&tite contract 307p 2 842
Total commitments received (*) 11 396 10 371
1974 1991

At 31 Decembe 2011 RCI Banqut hac €4,58¢m in unuse: confirmec lines of credit as well as broadly
diversified short-term and medium-term issuance progrdR@ Banque also held €1,665m of receivables
eligible as central bank collateral (excluding sé®s and receivables already in use to secueméiimg at yea

Guarantees and collateral

Guarantees or collateral offer partial or totaltpotion against the risk of losses due to debteolirency (mortgages,
pledges, comfort letters, bank guarantees ondestand for the granting of loans to dealers andap@icustomers in
certain cases). Guarantors are the subject ohialter external rating updated at least annually.

With a view to reducing its risk-taking, the RCI mpe group thus actively and rigorously managestiteties,
among other things by diversifying them: creditirsce, personal and other guarantees.
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Note 22 : Exposure to currency risk

08

In millions of euros Balance sheet Off balance sheet étlposition

12/2011 pl(;girt]i?)n Short position| pl(;gir:i?)n Short position| Total rg:)nwetlgg sct):uvgthulf;:
Position USD 1 00§ (1 00p) Q) 1)
Position GBP (394 495 101 101
Position CHF (33) 36 3 3
Position CZK ?3) 21 18 18
Position ARS 25 25 25
Position BRL 132 132 132
Position PLN (62) 113 51 51
Position HUF 1) 6 5 5
Position RON 2 2 2
Position KRW 143 143 143
Position MAD 11 11 11
Position DKK (24) 24
Position TRY 19 19 19
Position SEK (46) 46
Total exposure 1 337 (564 741 (1 0g6) 5 g
In millions of euros Balance sheet Off balance sheet dilposition

12/2010 plc;gir;igc]m Short position| plc;gir:igc]m Short position| Total n?;:’;::; S?:uvggf;
Position USD (57) 57
Position GBP 464 (366) 99 99
Position JPY (92) 92
Position CHF 154 (154) 4 4
Position CZK 30 (ad 20 20
Position ARS 26 26 26
Position BRL 139 139 139
Position PLN 74 1q) 58 58
Position HUF 7 7 7
Position RON 1 1 1
Position KRW 143 143 143
Position MAD 11 11 11
Position DKK 5 5)
Position SEK 37 (37)
Total exposure 1094 (149) 14p (588) 508 1 5p7

The structural foreign exchange position correspaiadthe value of foreign currency equity secwsitield by RCI

Banque SA.

Throughout the year, the consolidated RCI Banqoepjs foreign exchange position remained beloweh&m limit
imposed by the Renault Group. Consequently, theitbaty of the income statement to changes in exge rates is

not significant.
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Note 23 : Interest and similar income

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Interests ans similar incomes 2145 1974
Transactions with credit institutions 23 14
Customer finance transactions 1 447 1 319
Finance lease transactions 533 489
Operating lease transactions 20 30
Accrued interest due and payable on hedging ingnisn 118 114
Accrued interest due and payable on Financial aisseiilable for sale il 10
Staggered fees paid for referral of business: (223 (194
Customer Loans (270 (149
Finance leases (53) (45
Total interests and similar incomes (*) 1922 1787
(*) Of which related parties 521 438

31 December 2011

As the receivables assigned under the securitizatiansactions have not been derecognized, intemesthose
receivables continues to appear under interessiamthr income in customer finance transactions.

Note 24 : Interest expenses and similar charges

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Transactions with credit institutions (272 (218
Customer finance transactions (20) (6)
Operating lease transactions (12) (19
Accrued interest due and payable on hedging ingnisn (204 a79)
Expenses/debt evidenced by certificates (525 (385
Other interest and similar expenses (12) 9)
Total interest and similar expenses (*) (934 (816
(*) Of which related parties (27) (18)

- 48 -



RCI Banque group— Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2011

Note 25 : Net gains (losses) on financial instruménat fair value through profit or lo

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Net gains (losses) on derivatives classified as tisactions in trading securif 1 (2)
Net gains / losses on forex transactions (66) 112
Net gains / losses on derivatives classified iditrg securities 6 (11B)
Net gains and losses on equity investments avédire 2 (1
Fair value hedges : change in value of hedgingunmgnts 181 @)
Fair value hedges : change in value of hedged items (182 7
Total net gains or losses on financial instrumentat fair value 1 2)
Note 26 : Net gains (losses) on AFS securities apither financial assets

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Other financial assets 5

Dividends 5

Total Net gains (losses) on financial assets avdila for sale and other 5 1
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Note 27 : Net income (expense) of other activities

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Other income from banking operations 586 534
Incidental income from finance contracts 313 336
Income from service activities 179 115
Income related to non-doubtful lease contracts 63 60
of which reversal of impairment on residualuex 8 8
Other income from banking operations 31 23
of which reversal of charge to reserve for liagkisks 7 4
Other expenses of banking operations (411 (395
Cost of services related to finance contracts (157 (165
Cost of service activities (113 (75
Expenses related to non-doubtful lease contracts (57) (58
of which allowance for impairment on residualues (10) ()]
Distribution costs not treatable as interest expens (63 (75
Other expenses of banking operations (22) (22
of which charge to reserve for banking r 2) (6)
Other income and expense of banking operations, net 2 11
Other income from non-banking operations 14 20
Other expenses of non-banking operations (12) 9)
Total net income (expense) of other activities (*) w 150
(*) Of which related parties @) @)

Incidental income and cost of services relatednanice contracts as well as income and expensesrate activities

primarily concern insurance and maintenance cotstrac

Income and expenses of services activities inctbdéncome and expenses booked for insurance ctsissued by
the group’s captive insurance companies as detadeshfter:

Net income of insurance activities

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Gross premiums written 91 42
Net charge of provisions for technical provisions (54) (30
Claims paid ) (1)
Claims recovered from reinsurers 2 1
Others reinsurance charges and incomes 4 5
Total net income of insurance activities 40 17

-50 -

31 December 2011




RCI Banque group— Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2011

Note 28 : General operating expenses et des efféct

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Personnel costs (299 (200
Employee pay (138 (135
Expenses of post-retirement benefits (15) (15
Other employee-related expenses (42) 41
Other personnel expenses (4) 9)
Other administrative expenses (152 (239
Taxes other than current income tax (29) (16
Rental charges (14) (13
Other administrative expenses (219 (210
Total general operating expenses (*) (351 (339
(*) Of which related parties 2
Average number of employees 12/2011 12/2010
Sales financing operations and services in France 2971 1293
Sales financing operations and services in othentries 1533 1549
2830 2 847

Other personnel expenses include amounts chargeshdoreversed from provisions for restructuring dod

personnel-related risks.

In accordance with Renault Group standards, thedRr€VAE tax Cotisation sur la Valeur Ajoutée des Entreprises,

a tax computed on the added value generated hyothpany) has been included in “Taxes other tharentiincome

”

tax”.
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Note 29 : Cost of risk by customer category

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Cost of risk on customer financing (57) 94
Impairment allowances (208 (315
Reversal of impairment 271 389
Losses on receivables written off (136 (279
Amounts recovered on loans written off 16 11
Cost of risk on dealer financing 9 9
Impairment allowances (69) (82
Reversal of impairment 94 97
Losses on receivables written off (16) (6)
Other cost of risk 4)

Change in allowance for country risk 4) (1)
Change in allowance for impairment of other receles 1
Total cost of risk (52) (85

This item includes the net increase (decreasenrairment allowances, losses on receivables written
and amounts recovered on receivables written off.

Note 30 : Income tax

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010

Current tax expense (219 (158
Current tax expense (219 (158
Deferred taxes (46) (56
Income (expense) of deferred taxes, gross (46) (56
Total income tax (265 (214

Current tax expense is equal to the amount of irctar due and payable to tax authorities for thewr,yender the
rules and tax rates applicable in each country.

Certain differences between companies’ incomedrmpuurposes and their income for consolidated Girdmeporting

purposes give rise to the recognition of defergeds$. These differences result mainly from rulesaficounting for
lease-purchase and long-term rental transactiosh$osimecognizing impairment on doubtful receivahle
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Breakdown of net deferred taxes by major category

In millions of euros 12/2011 12/2010
Impairment 89 65
Provisions and other charges deductible when paid 11 18
Tax loss carryforwards 38 33
Other assets and liabilities (25) 27
Lease transactions (341 (278
Non-current assets (1) 5
Impairment allowance on deferred tax assets (6) (6)
Total net deferred tax asset (liability) (235 (290
Reconciliation of actual tax expense booked and theetical tax charge
In % 12/2011 12/2010
Statutory income tax rate - France 36,10% 34,43%
Differential in tax rates of french entities 0,719 0,24%
Differential in tax rates of foreign entities -3,23% -4,06%
Change in impairment allowance on deferred taxtass®l losses on tax los -0,02% 0,00%
Effect of equity-accounted associates -0,25% -0,12%
Other impacts 0,379 -0,09%
Effective tax rate 33,68% 30,40%

Deferred tax expense recognized in the other compnensive income

2011 change in equity

2010 change in equity

In millions of euros Before tax Tax Net Before tax Tax Net
Unrealised P&L on cash flow hedge instrumerjts 3 70 (24) 46
Actuarial differences (1) 1) 1 1
Exchange differences (2%6) (46) 7 57
Other unrealized or deferred P&L 1 1 1) (1)
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6. COMPANIES AND FOREIGN BRANCHES INCLUDED IN THE SCOP E OF

CONSOLIDATION

Country Direct Indirect interest of RCI Banque %
interest of
RCI Banque % Held by 2011 2010
PARENT COMPANY: RCI Banque S.A.
Branches of RCI Banaue
RCI Banque S.A. Niederlassung Deutschland German
RCI Banque Sucursal Argentina Argentina
RCI Banque Niederlassung Osterreich* Austria
RCI Banque S.A. Sucursal Espafia Spain
RCI Banque Sucursal Portugal Portugal
RCI Banque S.A. Bama podruznica Ljubljana Slovenia
RCI Banque Succursale Italiana Italy
RCI Banque Branch Ireland* Ireland
Renault Finance Nordic Bankfilial till RCI BanqueAS Frankrike Sweden
FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES:
RCI Versicherungs Service GmbH Germany 100 100 100
Rombo Compafifa Financiera S.A. Argentina 60 60 60
Courtage S.A. Argentina 95 100 100
RCI Financial Services S.A. Belgium 100 100 100
Renault AutoFin S.A. Belgium 100 100 100
Administradora de Consorcio Renault do Brasil St@al Brazil 99.92 - 99.92 99.92
Companhia de Arrendamento Mercantil RCI do Bragil. S Brazil 60.12 60.12 60.12
Companhia de Crédito. Financiamento e InvestimB@bdo Brasil S.A. Brazil 60.0 60.09 60.09
Corretora de Seguros RCI do Brasil S.A. Brazil 100 100 100
RCI Financial Services Korea Co Ltd South Korea 10 100 100
Overlease S.A. Spain 100 100 100
Diac S.A. France 100 100 100
Cogéra S.A. France E 94.81| Diac S.A. 94.81] 94.81
Diac Location S.A. France E 100 | Diac S.A. 100 100
Sogesma S.A.R.L. France g 100 | Diac S.A. 100 100
Renault Acceptance Ltd United Kingdom 100 100 100
RCI Financial Services Ltd United Kingdom 84.59 15.41| Renault Acceptance Ltd 19 100
RCI zrt Hungary Hungary 100 100 100
RCI Services Ltd*™ Malta 100 100 100
RCI Insurance Ltd** Malta 100 | RCI Services Ltd 10i 100
RCI Life Ltd*™* Malta 100 | RCI Services Ltd 10 10
RCI Finance Maroc S.A. Morocco 100 100 100
RCI Financial Services B.V. Netherlands 10 100 100
Renault Credit Polska Sp. z.0.0. Poland 100 100 100
RCI Bank Polska S.A. Poland 100 100 100
RCI Gest Instituicdo Financeira de Crédito S.A. tiRgal 100 100 100
RCI Gest Seguros Mediadores de Seguros Lda Portugdl - 100 | RCI GEST IFIC S.A. 10 100
RCI Finance CZ s.r.o. Czech Rep. 10 100 100
RCI Broker De Asigurare S.R.L. Romania 100 | RCI Finantare Romania 19 100
RCI Finantare Romania S.R.L. Romania 104 100 100
RCI Leasing Romania IFN S.A. Romania 100 100 100
RCI Finance S.A. Switzerland 104 100 100
SPV
SPV Alliance Auto Loans — Italy Italy (see note | RCI Banque Succursale
FCT Cars Alliance Auto Loans Germany Germany (see notd RCI Banque Niederlassuhg
FCT Cars Alliance Auto Leases Germany Germany RCI Banque Niederlassung
SPV DFP RHOMBUS SA Germany RCI Banque Niederlassung
FCC Cars Alliance Auto Loans — France France (see notd Diac S.A.
FCT Cars Alliance DFP France France (see notd Cogera S.A.
SPV Cars Alliance UK United Kingdom RCI Financial Services Ltd|
PROPORTIONALLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES
Renault Credit Car Belgium 50.10| Renault AutoFin S.A. 50.1 50.10
RCI Financial Services s.r.0. Czech Rep. 5 50 50
COMPANIES ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD
Nissan Renault Finance Mexico S.A. de C.V. Sofoh.E. Mexico 15 15 15

* Entities added to the scope in 2011
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APPENDIX 1: RCI BANQUE GROUP OPERATIONS

Net loans Of which
In million euros Year outstanding at| dealers at end
end Decembey December
Western Europe 2011 20 065 511y
2010 18 43( 4 30B
of which Germany 2011 3 852 958
2010 3 599 75%
of which Spain 2011 1717 409
2010 1821 34%
of which France 2011 8 869 223p
2010 8 15 193p
of which United-Kingdom 2011 1603 285
2010 1 449 271
of which Italy 2011 2 064 54%
2010 1724 41%
Brazil 2011 2 059 75
2010 12372 31
South Korea 2011 1326 13
2010 1199 17
Rest of world* 2011 1 047 378
2010 866 284
Total RCI Banque Group 2011 24 491 6 26
2010 217274 491p

* Rest of world : Argentina, Hungary, Morocco, Scandiaawountries, Poland, Czech Republic, Romania, and Slovenia

Income from external customers is allocated todifierent countries according to the home countirgach of the
entities. Each entity actually only books incormanircustomers residing in the same country as titéaye
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APPENDIX 2 : FINANCIAL RISKS

Essentially all of the transactions in financiastmmments carried out by the RCI Banque SA holdiogpany are
related to its function as centralized refinandifffice for the RCI Banque group.

In this role, RCI Banque pursues its objectivesuigh two main strategies:

- It obtains the funds required to ensure continaftyhe group’s consolidated affiliates’ businesemgions by
borrowing under its own name, via such means asim® of money-market borrowings, bonds and other
negotiable debt securities, securitization of resigies and negotiation of confirmed credit linex] & makes
cash available to group companies;

- It manages and minimizes exposure to the finaniskl linked to its affiliates’ Customer sales firamy
activities, through interest-rate swaps, curreneggs and spot and forward foreign exchange traiosect

The scope of the group’s financial policy extendsatl of the sales finance affiliates of the RCInBae group,
including those for which refinancing is not dorentrally. All refinancing for affiliates in count&$ with a rating of
less than A (S&P rating on the transfer and coiitiéity risk) is done locally to avoid any cross+der risk. These
affiliates are also subject to the same finands requirements as other group affiliates: theysthobserve limits on
interest rate risk, monitor their liquidity risk,amage their currency risk prudently, contain tleeinnterparty risk, and
have in place a dedicated risk monitoring commitéteevell as a means of ad hoc reporting on finhnisies.

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION

The market risk management system, which is pati@RCI Banque group’s overall internal contrateyn, operates
according to rules approved by the Renault Groupl Ranque’s Finance department is responsible fanaging
market risks arising from interest rate, liquiditgd currency exposures, and for verifying compkanith allowable
limits at the consolidated group level. The ruled aeilings are specified and approved by Renautha shareholder
and are periodically updated.

Foreign exchange instruments, interest-rate ingnisnand currencies approved for use in managimgenesks are
specified on a list of authorized products validatg RCI Banque’s Finance Committee.

MANAGING AGGREGATE INTEREST-RATE, CURRENCY, COUNTER PARTY AND
LIQUIDITY RISKS

Interest-rate risk (audited)

In the case of RCI Banque, the overall interest ragk represents the impact of fluctuating rateste future gross
financial margin.

The objective of the RCI Banque group is to mitigthtis risk as far as possible in order to protsanark-up.

In order to take account of the difficulty of preely adjusting the structure of borrowings withttbfloans, limited
flexibility is accepted in interest rate risk healgiby each subsidiary.

This flexibility consists in a sensitivity limit lreg assigned to each subsidiary as approved bFittece committee,
individual adaptation of part of the limit granted Renault to the RCI Banque group.

Refinancing limits for subsidiaries: €20m

Limit of commercial subsidiaries: €10m

Total sensitivity limit in millions of euros grart¢o RCI Banque by Renault: €30m

The sensitivity thus defined consists in measuaing given point in time (t) the impact of a changaterest rates on
the market price of flows relating to the commedrassets and financial liabilities of an entity.

The market price is determined by the discountégaréucash flows at the market price at point t.

The scenario preferred by the RCI Banque groupdaleulation of sensitivity at a uniform increadel60 bp of the
interest rates on all maturities. The calculat®based on the active GAPs and average monthijitied

The instalments of in-force business are determibgdtaking into account the contractual charadiessof
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transactions and the results of the modelling sfdnical customer behaviour patterns (advance rapat; etc.),
supplemented by assumption on certain aggregate®(e' equity, etc.)

Sensitivity is calculated daily per currency and pnagement entity (refinancing subsidiaries, €meand foreign
commercial subsidiaries) and enables overall manage of the Interest-rate risk on the consolidaedpe of the
RCI Banque group. This is monitored by the finahadgks service attached to the internal contrgbatément. The
situation of each entity with regard to its linst¢onfirmed every day, and immediate hedging direstare issued to
the subsidiaries if circumstances so dictate.

The result of controls is the subject of monthlgaring to the finance committee, which checks ¢bepliance of
positions with the group's financial strategy arth\prevailing procedural memoranda.

In 2011, overall sensitivity to the interest-rakrof RCl Banque remained below the €30m limittsethe group.

At 31 December 2011, a 100 bp rise in the Euraésterate would have a negative impact of €4.5a0@bp rise in
the CHF rates would have a positive impact of €0.8nd a fall in the GBP rate would have a negaitiveact of
€0.1m. The absolute sensitivity values in eachenay totaled €6.0m at 31 December 2011.

An analysis of the structural rates risk brings thetfollowing points:

- Sales financing subsidiaries

Virtually all loans to customers by sales financguipsidiaries are granted at a fixed-rate for tesfris to 72 months.
These loans are hedged by fixed-rate resourceadhéive same structure. They are backed by macrgigednd only

generate a residual Interest-rate risk.

In subsidiaries where the resource is at a floatitg, the Interest-rate risk is hedged thanksaorothedging interest
rate swaps.

- Refinancing subsidiary

The main activity of RCI Banque SA is to refinartbe group's commercial subsidiaries.

The in-force business of the commercial refinanaulgsidiaries is backed primarily by floating reg¢sources.
Thanks to macro-hedging operations in the formnbérest rate swaps, the sensitivity of the refirandolding
company has been kept below the €20m threshold.

These swaps and the securities available for salmaasured at fair value by reserves in accordaitbd FRS.

A uniform change in the yield curve of 1% appliedthe valuation of these instruments would havengract on
consolidated reserves of €39.2m (before tax) db&dember 2011.

This data is calculated on the basis of simplifednarios, working on the assumption that all postrun to maturity
and that management does not readjust them tarfimcb@w market conditions. The sensitivity of me®s to a change
in interest rates as presented above would in yob@aepresentative of an impact on future results.

Efficiency tests are carried out monthly to asdertiae efficiency of the swap hedging thus putlece.

Liquidity risk
RCI Banque has a duty, at all times and more paatity in difficult periods, to have sufficient fding to guarantee
its business growth. For that purpose, RCI Banqumoses stringent internal standards on itself.

Two indicators are monitored monthly by the finasoenmittee:

- The number of days' liquidity
A stress scenario is used to calculate the numbelags during which the RCI Banque group can, withany
additional recourse to the market, have suffictarsh assets to cover its past and projected bssines

This figure is the result of calculated liquiditgatilocks that factor in firstly issued resourcesficmed unused credit
facilities, the potential eligible for monetary oyl transactions of the European System CentrakBBSCB) and the
cash position, and secondly existing commercialfarahcial assets and business projections.

- The liquidity reserve

This indicator is the difference between availabkturities (confirmed unused credit facilities, efhican be
mobilized in the Central Bank and in cash) and cenaial paper outstandings. It reflects the capaxfitRCl Banque
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to raise new resources, either on certificate pbdé& and commercial paper markets in the form obifization in the
Central Bank, or by using confirmed lines of finemgc

To achieve its objectives, at 31 December 2011 B&tique had €4,548m of confirmed unused credit {epam
Brazil for €41m, the refinancing of which is notntealized), extensive diversification of its sharidd medium-term
issues and €1,665m of eligible debt securities ¢aatbe mobilized with the Bank of France (afteplegation of bad
debt discounting and apart from receivables madiliat the end of the reporting period).

The foreign exchange risk

* Very low historically, the forex position of RBlanque SA, the refinancing unit, remained under €&woughout the
year.

* No position is admitted within the framework efinancing management: In this respect the trathogn guarantees
systematic hegding of all the flows concerned.

The sales financing subsidiaries are obliged tmaete themselves in their own currency and arg ot exposed.

By way of exception, a limit of €2.5m has been @di®d to Romania, €0.5m to Hungary and €0.1m toe&or
subsidiaries where sales financing activities axdted refinancing are multi-currency. A limit o8l has also been
allocated to Russia.

The overall limit of the RCI Banque group grantgtiiie Renault shareholder is €17m.

* Residual and temporary positions in currencielated to cash flow timing differences inherenimalti-currency
cash management, may however remain. These poggibldons are monitored daily and are subjecth® game
hedging concern.

» Any other forex transactions (in particular fbetanticipated hedging of projected dividends) @aly be initiated
further to the decision of the finance and cashagan

At 31 December 2011, the consolidated forex pasitibthe RCI Banque group totalled €8.4m.

Credit risk

« Credit risk is managed with a system of limitsaeRenault Group consolidated level and is moeddaily. All the
results of controls are communicated monthly to fiheance committee of RCI Banque and integrated ithie
consolidated monitoring of Renault Group credik.ris

« Since the RCI Banque group is structurally a tmar, credit risk primarily arises from hedgingrisactions carried
out with derivative instruments.

» The counterparties of market transactions aresemdrom among French and international banks, elsas the
limits imposed according to a current internalngtsystem for the entire Renault Group.

» Temporary cash surpluses are invested exclusimebhort-term bank deposits. Commitments on déviga are

weighted by more conservative coefficients thars¢heecommended by regulations. The risk of paymdeliaéry on
forex transactions is monitored and subject to ifipdinits.
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